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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Board of Trustees of
The Ohio State University
Columbus, Ohio

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of net assets of The Ohio State University
(the “University”), a component unit of the State of Ohio, as of June 30, 2005 and 2004, and the related
consolidated statements of revenues, expenses, and changes in net assets and of cash flows for the years
then ended. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the University’s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our
audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the respective financial statements are free of
material misstatement. An audit includes consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a
basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the University’s internal control over financial reporting.
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the respective financial statements, assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
respective financial position of The Ohio State University as of June 30, 2005 and 2004, and their
changes in net assets and their cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

The Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) on pages 2 through 14 is not a required part of
the basic financial statements, but is supplementary information required by the Governmental
Accounting Standards Board. This supplementary information is the responsibility of the University’s
management. We have applied certain limited procedures, which consisted principally of inquiries of
management regarding the methods of measurement and presentation of the required supplementary
information. However, we did not audit such information and we do not express an opinion on it.

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated October 19,
2005, on our consideration of internal control over financial reporting and our tests of its compliance with
certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of
that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the internal control over
financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance
with Government Auditing Standards and should be considered in assessing the results of our audits.

LQ&/@/% *_/W XY
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis for the Year Ended June 30, 2005

The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis, or MD&A, provides an overview of
the financial position and activities of The Ohio State University for the year ended June 30,
2005, with comparative information for the years ended June 30, 2004 and June 30, 2003.
We encourage you to read this MD&A section in conjunction with the audited financial
statements and footnotes appearing in this report.

About The Ohio State University

The Ohio State University is the State of Ohio’s flagship research institution and one of the
largest universities in the United States of America, with over 58,000 students, 4,700 faculty
members and 16,000 staff members. Founded in 1870 under the Morrill Land Grant Act,
the University — which was originally known as the Ohio Agricultural and Mechanical College
-- has grown over the years into a comprehensive public institution of higher learning, with
over 170 undergraduate majors, 110 masters degree programs and 90 doctoral programs.
The University operates one of the nation’s leading academic medical centers, which
includes the OSU Health System. The Health System is comprised of The Ohio State
University Hospital, The Arthur G. James Cancer Hospital and Richard J. Solove Research
Institute, The Richard M. Ross Heart Hospital, The University Hospital East, OSU Harding
Hospital, and 24 outpatient care centers. The System provided services to over 51,000
inpatients and 857,000 outpatients during fiscal year 2005.

Ohio State is governed by a board of 11 trustees who are responsible for oversight of
academic programs, budgets and general administration, and employment of faculty and
staff. The governor annually appoints one voting member to a nine-year term and one non-
voting student member to a two-year term. The University’s 19 colleges, the OSU Health
System and various academic support units operate largely on a decentralized basis. The
Board approves annual budgets for University operations, but these budgets are managed
at the college and department level.

The following financial statements reflect all assets, liabilities and net assets (equity) of the
University, the OSU Health System, the Ohio Agricultural Research and Development
Center and the Ohio Supercomputer Center. In addition, these statements include
consolidated financial results for a number of legally separate entities subject to Board
control, including:

e the OSU Research Foundation (which administers sponsored research
grants and contracts for University)

e the OSU Foundation (a fundraising foundation operating exclusively for the
benefit of the University)

e Campus Partners for Community Urban Redevelopment (a non-profit
organization participating in the redevelopment of neighborhoods adjacent
to the main Columbus campus)

e Transportation Research Center (an automotive research and testing facility
in East Liberty, Ohio)

e OSU Managed Health Care Systems (a non-profit organization that
administers University health care benefits)
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e OSU Physicians, Inc. (the central practice group for physician faculty
members of the College of Medicine and Public Health)

The entities listed above meet the “financial accountability” criteria set forth in Governmental
Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 14, The Financial Reporting Entity. A
complete listing of the entities that are included in the University’s financial report is provided
in the Basis of Presentation section of the footnotes.

About the Financial Statements

The University presents its financial reports in a “business type activity” format, in
accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 34, Basic
Financial Statements — and Management’s Discussion and Analysis — for State and Local
Governments and GASB Statement No. 35, Basic Financial Statements - and
Management’s Discussion and Analysis — for Public Colleges and Universities — an
amendment of GASB Statement No. 34. In addition to this MD&A section, the financial
report includes a Statement of Net Assets, a Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Other
Changes in Net Assets, a Statement of Cash Flows and Notes to the Financial Statements.

The Statement of Net Assets is the University’s balance sheet. It reflects the total assets,
liabilites and net assets (equity) of the University as of June 30, 2005, with comparative
information as of June 30, 2004. Liabilities due within one year, and assets available to pay
those liabilities, are classified as current. Other assets and liabilities are classified as non-
current. Investment assets are carried at market value. Capital assets, which include the
University’s land, buildings, improvements, and equipment, are shown net of accumulated
depreciation. Net assets are grouped in the following categories:

e Invested in capital assets, net of related debt _

o Restricted — Nonexpendable (endowment and annuity funds)

e Restricted — Expendable (primarily current restricted and quasi-endowment
funds)

e Unrestricted

The Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Other Changes in Net Assets is the
University’s income statement. It details how net assets have increased (or decreased)
during the year ended June 30, 2005, with comparative information for Fiscal Year 2004.
Tuition revenue is shown net of scholarship allowances, depreciation is provided for capital
assets, and there are required subtotals for net operating income (loss) and net income
(loss) before capital contributions and additions to permanent endowments.

It should be noted that the required subtotal for net operating income or loss will generally
reflect a “loss” for state-supported colleges and universities. This is primarily due to the way
operating and non-operating items are defined under GASB Statement No. 9, Reporting
Cash Flows of Proprietary and Nonexpendable Trust Funds and Governmental Entities That
Use Proprietary Fund Accounting. Operating expenses include virtually all University
expenses, except for interest on long-term debt.  Operating revenues, however, exclude
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certain significant revenue streams that Ohio State and other public institutions have
traditionally relied upon to fund current operations, including state instructional support,
current-use gifts and investment income.

The Statement of Cash Flows details how cash has increased (or decreased) during the
year ended June 30, 2005, with comparative information for Fiscal Year 2004. It breaks out
the sources and uses of University cash into the following categories:

Operating activities
Noncapital financing activities
Capital financing activities
Investing activities

Cash flows associated with the University’s expendable net assets appear in the operating
and noncapital financing categories. Capital financing activities include payments for capital
assets, proceeds from long-term debt and debt repayments. Purchases and sales of
investments are reflected as investing activities.

The Notes to the Financial Statements, which follow the financial statements, provide
additional details on the numbers in the financial statements.

Financial Highlights and Key Trends

The University’s financial health remained sound in 2005, with growth in tuition, grants and
contracts and patient care revenues offsetting similar increases in operating expenses.
Total unrestricted and restricted-expendable net assets decreased $49 million, to $1.14
billion at June 30, 2005, primarily due to expenditures for capital projects. Issuance of
commercial paper increased total plant debt $63 million, to $878 million. University
investments yielded $154 million of net investment income.

Student enrollment trends reflect continued strong demand for an Ohio State education.
Total Autumn Quarter 2004 enroliment for all campuses was 58,365, up from 58,254 in
Autumn 2003. And freshman retention continues to improve. 88% of the freshmen
enrolled in Autumn 2003 returned to OSU in Autumn 2004, up from 87.7% in the
comparable 2002-2003 period.

The following sections provide additional details on the University’'s 2005 financial results

and a look ahead at significant economic conditions that are expected to affect the
University in the future.
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Statement of Net Assets

Summary Statement of Net Assets (in thousands)
2005 2004 2003
Cash and current investments $ 583,805 $ 1,128,570 $ 836,704
Current receivables, inventories and prepaid expenses 470,770 405,275 384,685
Total current assets 1,054,575 1,533,845 1,221,389
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 50,203 34,030 16,125
Noncurrent notes and pledges receivable 85,428 89,082 92,515
Endowments and other fong-term investments 1,721,226 1,152,338 1,017,094
Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation 2,468,776 2,088,665 1,869,355
Total noncurrent assets 4,325,633 3,364,115 2,995,089
Total assets $ 5,380,208 $ 4,897,960 $ 4,216,478
Accounts payabie and accrued expenses $ 368,127 $ 323,468 $ 272,636
Deferred revenues and deposits 154,424 140,647 138,787
Commercial paper and current portion of bonds, 480,580 411,270 349,206
notes and lease obligations
Other current liabilities 10,140 10,809 3,496
Total current fiabilities 1,013,271 886,194 770,125
Noncurrent portion of bonds, notes and lease obligations 396,960 403,336 237,027
Other noncurrent liabilities 190,896 181,678 171,781
Total noncurrent liabilities 587,856 585,014 408,808
Total liabilities $ 1,601,127 $ 1,471,208 $ 1,178,933
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt $ 1,590,235 $ 1,273,058 $ 1,266,371
Restricted-nonexpendable net assets 1,050,685 966,758 791,188
Restricted-expendable net assets 462,574 465,002 445,238
Unrestricted net assets 675,587 721,934 534,748
Total net assets $ 3,779,081 $ 3,426,752 $ 3,037,545

Total University cash and current investment balances decreased $545 million in 2005.
To increase the level of operating support provided by endowment funds, the University
transferred approximately $478 million of temporary investments to the Endowment Fund to
establish the Long Term Component and President’s Strategic Investment endowment
funds. The Statement of Cash Flows, which is discussed in more detail below, provides
additional details on sources and uses of University cash.

The market value of the University’'s endowment and other long-term investments
increased $569 million, to $1.72 billion at June 30, 2005, due to a combination of transfers
from temporary investments, market appreciation and new endowment gifts. The
Endowment Fund operates with a long-term investment goal of preserving the purchasing
power of the principal in a diversified portfolio.

Capital assets, which include the University’s land, buildings, improvements, equipment

and library books, grew $380 million, to $2.47 billion at June 30, 2005. The University
depreciates its capital assets on a straight-line basis, using estimated useful lives ranging
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from 5 years (for computer equipment) to 100 years (for certain building components such
as foundations).

Major projects completed in 2005 include the Richard M. Ross Heart Hospital, the Knowlton
School of Architecture, the Physical Sciences Research Building, the Hagerty Hall and Page
Hall renovations, and two new parking garages. In addition, several major construction
projects are currently underway or in advanced planning stages, including:

e New Recreation Center — Construction is nearing completion on a new
604,800 square foot recreation center to replace Larkins Hall. The $140
million facility will house a 50 meter swimming pool and diving well,
recreation, class and lap pools, 16 basketball courts, 6 multi-purpose
rooms, squash courts, racquetball courts and a 28,000 square foot fithess
center.

e Biomedical Research Tower — Construction continues on a ten-story $151
million biomedical research facility that will house up to 120 faculty and 400
additional researchers for the College of Medicine and Public Health.

¢ Mechanical Engineering Building Replacement — Work continues on a $72
million project to construct new space for the Mechanical Engineering
Department on the former Robinson Lab site.

e McCracken Power Plant Improvements — A $73 million Emissions
Compliance Project is underway to replace four boilers at the main campus
power plant. The new boilers will reduce emissions, increase capacity and
meet future campus steam demands. Also underway are projects to add
capacity to the central chilled water plant ($8 million) and to maintain the
power plant’s ability to burn coal ($3 million).

e Wexner Center for the Arts Renovation — A $14.5 million renovation and
retrofit project is underway to correct building envelope and system
problems.

e Wiliam Oxley Thompson Memorial Library Renovation - Planning
continues on a $99 million renovation of the University’s main library, which
will include an addition to the building, new landscaping of the surrounding
area and an expansion of the Library Book Depository.

The University’s estimated future capital commitments, based on contracts and purchase
orders, total approximately $210 million at June 30, 2005.

Total University debt, in the form of commercial paper, bonds, notes and capital lease
obligations, increased $63 million, to $878 million at June 30, 2005. During 2005, the
University issued $128 million of commercial paper (net of current-year redemptions),
secured by the general receipts of the University. The University used these debt proceeds
to fund current capital expenditures.
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The University’s plant debt includes variable rate demand bonds that mature at various
dates through 2032. Governmental Accounting Standards Board Interpretation 1, Demand
Bonds Issued by State and Local Governmental Entities, provides guidance on the balance
sheet classification of these bonds. Under GASB Interpretation 1, outstanding principal
balances on variable rate demand bonds may be classified as noncurrent liabilities if the
issuer has entered into a “take-out agreement” to convert bonds “put” but not resold into
some other form of long-term obligation. In the absence of such an agreement, the total
outstanding principal balances for these bonds are required to be classified as current
liabilities.

Although it is the University’s intent to repay its variable rate demand bonds in accordance
with the maturities set forth in the bond offering circulars, the University does not have
“take-out agreements” in place per the GASB Interpretation 1 requirements. Accordingly,
the University has classified the total outstanding principal balances on its variable rate
demand bonds as current liabilities. These obligations totaled $305 million and $320 million
at June 30, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

On August 10, 2005, the University issued $279 million of general receipts bonds and $130
million of variable rate demand bonds, maturing at various dates through 2035.
Approximately $206 million of the bond proceeds was used to retire existing commercial
paper and bond debt. The remainder will be used to fund various construction projects.

Accounts payable and accrued expenses increased $45 million, primarily due to a $37
million increase in medical malpractice accruals.

2004-2003 Highlights: Total University cash and current investment balances increased
$292 million, primarily due to two September 2003 bond issues, which yielded net
proceeds (after refunding of existing debt) of $244 million. Total University plant debt
increased $228 million, to $815 million. Total unrestricted and restricted-expendable net
assets increased $207 million, to $1.19 billion.
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Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Other Changes in Net Assets

Summary of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Assets (in thousands)
2005 2004 2003
Operating Revenues:
Tuition and fees, net $ 501,941 $ 436,218 392,609
Grants and contracts 534,476 508,974 482,228
Auxiliary enterprises sales and services, net 160,711 163,162 141,543
OSU Health System sales and services, net 1,078,181 932,200 819,015
OSU Physicians sales and services, net 189,101 112,036 18,857
Departmental sales and other operating revenues 119,531 110,319 108,617
Total operating revenues 2,583,941 2,262,909 1,962,869
Operating Expenses:
Educational and general 1,457,898 1,406,768 1,343,564
Auxiliary enterprises 174,206 178,645 164,130
O8U Health System 1,071,762 937,748 809,584
OSU Physicians 169,005 101,778 17,048
Depreciation 145,976 141,477 140,608
Total operating expenses 3,018,847 2,766,416 2,474,934
Net operating income (loss) (434,906) (503,507) (512,065)
Non-operating revenues (expenses):
State share of instruction and line-item appropriations 438,499 433,984 437,363
Gifts - current use 65,676 52,500 79,144
Net investment income (loss) 154,289 244,013 69,754
Other non-operating revenue {expense) (29,895) {19,617) (19,036)
Income (loss) before other revenues, expenses
gains or losses 193,663 207,373 55,160
State capital appropriations 87,305 102,709 56,878
Private capital gifts 16,638 27,647 18,213
Additions to permanent endowments 54,723 51,478 46,026
Income (loss) before extraordinary item 352,329 389,207 176,277
Extraordinary item:
Reallocation of unfunded workers' compensation liabitity to State of Ohio - - 53,489
Increase (decrease) in net assets 352,329 389,207 229,766
Net assets - beginning of year 3,426,752 3,037,545 2,807,779
Net assets - end of year $ 3,779,081 $ 3,426,752 3,037,545

Net tuition and fees increased $66 million, to $502 million in 2005. In recognition of the
difficult financial challenges facing Ohio State, the governor and the legislature allowed the
University to raise tuition above the 9.9% tuition cap placed on most state institutions — up to
a maximum of 12.9% above the prior academic year — under the condition that 3.9% of the

increase would be earmarked for financial aid and student technology.

Grant and contract revenues increased $26 million, to $534 million in 2005, primarily due
to a $31 million increase in sponsored research programs administered by the OSU
Research Foundation. This increase was partially offset by decreases in other

grant/contract activity, including a $2 million decrease in local grants and contracts.
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Fiscal Year 2005 saw a continuation of moderate growth in total educational and general
expenses. Total E&G expenses increased approximately 3.6%, to $1.46 billion. Additional
details are provided below.

Educational and General Expenses (in thousands)
2005 2004 2003

Instruction and departmental research $ 617,890 $ 577,500 $ 547,367
Separately budgeted research 333,554 317,310 303,057
Public service 95,737 110,750 114,916
Academic support 108,489 103,502 101,292
Student services 70,020 65,906 57,145
Institutional support 93,472 109,331 110,144
Operation and maintenance of plant 84,288 73,133 68,154
Scholarships and fellowships 54,448 49,336 41,489

Tota! $ 1,457,898 $ 1,406,768  § 1,343,564

Total instructional and departmental research expenses increased $40 million in 2005,
primarily due to faculty/staff salary increases, which averaged 3.5%, targeted investments to
enhance academic programs, and increases in college spending authority under the
University’s restructured budget process, which distributes incremental resources based on
credit hours and enroliments. Increases in separately budgeted research reflect
continued growth in sponsored research programs administered by the OSU Research
Foundation. Public service expenses decreased $15 million, primarily due to reductions in
restricted expenditures. Institutional support decreased $16 million, primarily due to
reductions in central charges for self-insured employee health plans (increased health
benefit costs in 2005 were distributed to other E&G categories, auxiliaries and the OSU
Health System via increases in the composite benefit rates charged to university
departments).

Sales and service revenues of the University’s Auxiliary Enterprises were stable in 2005,
decreasing $2 million, to $161 million. Total auxiliary expenses decreased $4 million, to
$174 million.

The Ohio State University Health System continued to grow during Fiscal Year 2005. The
Richard M. Ross Heart Hospital opened in first half of the year with 90 beds and specialized
operating and procedure rooms. This new facility was very quickly filled to capacity. The
Health System opened many new services while expanding established outpatient services
at the Morehouse Medical Plaza on Kenny Road.

Health System inpatient admissions increased 4.1% while outpatients grew by 6,700
patients. Consolidated Health System sales and service revenues increased $146 million
(15.7%) due to volume increases along with selective rate increases. Expenses for the
consolidated Health System (excluding depreciation, interest and interfund transfers)
increased $134 million (14.3%). Salaries and benefits increased 15.6% due to labor market
conditions and increased manpower needs. Supplies increased 11.2% due to medical
advances, inflation and more intensive patient care services, but tempered by cost-saving

2005 Financial Report 9



initiatives begun during the year. The Health System’s net income (including depreciation,
interest and interfund transfers) for 2005 was $16.4 million.

Looking ahead, the OSU Health System will be challenged by the national trend to meet the
increase in demand for health services arising from an aging population and increasing
consumer expectations. The Health System again expects revenues to increase by 12%
with focus on the six signature programs — Cancer, Critical Care, Heart, Imaging,
Neuroscience and Transplantation. In Fiscal Year 2006 this will be driven by growing
admissions that are projected to increase by 3,289 or 6.4%, and outpatient visits that are
expected to increase by 8,800. Included are Emergency Department visits, which are
expected to increase by 11,700 or 13.1%. The Health System will continue to be
challenged by the increasing cost for care givers, medical technicians, malpractice costs,
supplies, pharmaceuticals, purchased service and technology.

The Health System continues to invest in the Medical Center research and teaching
initiatives, resulting in the delivery of additional leading edge clinical services while fulfilling
its academic mission. In response to the increased demand for services, the Health System
has a number of initiatives underway including: expansion of the Ross Heart Hospital;
continuing productivity and non-labor cost saving initiatives; Digestive Program construction
to support clinical and faculty space; and planning for new clinical facilities including
expansion of the James Cancer Hospital. Despite the challenges and the changing
healthcare environment, the Health System expects to improve its financial position during
the upcoming year. The Health System will continue to play a key role in supporting the
Medical Center and its goal of becoming a leading academic medical center provider by
2008.

Revenues and expenses of OSU Physicians, Inc., the University’s central practice group
for physician faculty members of the College of Medicine and Public Health, continued to
grow in 2005, reflecting the first full year of activity for several of the departmental practice
groups that have joined the new combined entity. Total patient revenues grew from $112
million to $189 million. Total OSUP expenses (excluding depreciation, interest and interfund
transfers) grew from $102 million to $169 miilion.

OSUP, Inc., which was incorporated in Ohio in 2002, is the single member of 16 limited
liability companies.  As of June 30, 2005, only twelve limited liability companies are
consolidated with the operations of the OSUP, Inc. for financial statement purposes. The
other four (Anesthesiology, Orthopedics, Otolaryngology and Radiation Medicine) had no
2005 activity. The following table lists those LLCs that were included in OSUP’s financial
reports in 2005 and 2004.
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Practice Plan 2005 2004

X
X

Family Medicine Foundation, LLLC

OSU Anesthesiology, LLC

OSU-Children's Pediatrics, LL.C

OSU Emergency Medicine, LLC

OSU Eye Physicians and Surgeons, LLC

OSU GYN and OB Consultants, LLC

OSU Internal Medicine, LLC

OSU Neuroscience Center, LLC

OSU Orthopedics, LI.C

OSU Otolaryngology-Head and Neck Surgery, LLC
OSU Pathology, LLC

OSU Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, LLC
OSU Psychiatry, LLC

OSU Radiation Medicine, LLC

OSU Radiology, LLC

OSU Surgery, LLC

XXX XXX
XXX XX

XX XXX
XX XXX

Non-endowment gifts to the University (including gifts for current use and gifts for capital
projects) totaled $82.3 million in 2005, a $2.2 million increase over 2004. New gift
additions to permanent endowments increased $3.2 million, a 6% increase over 2004.
University Development estimates that gift additions to the endowment for fiscal year 2006
will be in the $50-$60 million range.

During 2005, the number of donors to the University reached an all-time high of 104,607,
compared with last year's previous record of 104,446. The University also experienced a
7% increase in the number of gifts of $10,000 or more.

Modest returns in the equity market, coupled with a slight increase in bond prices due to
falling interest rates for long-term bonds, resulted in net investment income of $154 million
in 2005. This figure includes $ 63 million of interest and dividends and $ 91 million net
appreciation in the fair market value of university investments.

2004-2003 Highlights: Last year, the University reported significant growth in tuition, OSU
Health System and OSU Physicians revenues, with total operating revenues increasing
$300 million, to $2.26 billion. A strong equity market coupled with a neutral fixed income
market resulted in net investment income of $244 million.  Total operating expenses
increased $291 million, to $2.76 billion, primarily due to increases in OSU Health System
and OSU Physicians expenses.
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Statement of Cash Flows

University Cash Flows Summary (i thousands)
2005 2004 2003

Net cash flows from operating activities $  (281,695) $ (333,195) $ (387,450)
Net cash flows from noncapital financing activities 562,654 549,711 578,294

Capital appropriations and gifts for capital projects 102,938 119,597 76,797

Proceeds from issuance of bonds and notes payable 174,622 390,955 124,461

Payments for purchase and construction (527,563) (346,387) (246,072)

of capital assets

Principal and interest payments on capital debt (140,854) (177,091) (140,976)
Net cash fiows from investing activities 20,497 (160,457) (182,088)
Net increase (decrease) in cash $ (89,401) $ 43,133 $ (177,034)

Total University cash and cash equivalents decreased $89 million in 2005. Total cash
provided by operating and noncapital financial activities was $281 million, up $64 million
compared with 2004. Total cash used for capital financing activities was $391 million,
primarily due to payments for purchase and construction of capital assets, which totaled
$528 million. The $175 million of proceeds from issuance of bonds and notes payable
consists primarily of commercial paper issued for interim financing of capital expenditures.
Total cash provided by investing activities was $20 million, with net sales of temporary
investments offsetting net purchases of long-term endowment investments.

Economic Factors That Will Affect the Future

The Academic Plan, which was adopted in 2000, drives University spending and budgeting
priorities. It focuses on six core strategies that are necessary for Ohio State to become a
truly great teaching and research university:

e Build a world-class faculty

Develop academic programs that define Ohio State as the nation’s leading
land-grant university

Enhance the quality of the teaching and learning environment

Enhance and better serve the student body

Create a diverse University community

Help build Ohio’s future
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The colleges are the key focal points to advance the objectives of the Academic Plan.
Consequently, the University’s decentralized budget system is designed to make sure that
at least three quarters of increased annual revenues from tuition and fees and state share
of instruction, as well as all indirect cost recoveries, are distributed back to the generating
colleges. Major program priorities identified in the Fiscal Year 2006 budget process include
faculty and staff compensation, student financial aid, student services, support of
interdisciplinary research, support of private giving, and safety and security. The University
also allocates central discretionary funds to seed certain initiatives that cross college
boundaries and strengthen core support services. For 2006, this funding will include nearly
$10 million to support interdisciplinary research, $4 million for safety and security
enhancements, and $5 million to support private fundraising by University Development.

Sound finances are crucial to the University’s quest to become a truly great teaching and
research institution. To assure a continued flow of resources to the activities and functions
of the Academic Plan, the University has set the following long-term financial goals:

e A 0.5% to 1.0% operating margin in the General Fund
A Rainy Day fund of $25 million

e Targeted reserves in selected areas of special risk (e.g. malpractice,
utilities, etc.)

o Atleast 30 days of operating cash

e Debt service at no more than 5% of annual operating expenses and a bond
rating of at least “AA”

o Multi-Year commitments of General Funds do not exceed 1% of current-
year revenues

In the past year, University management and the Board of Trustees have taken additional
steps to protect Ohio State’s financial resources, including:

Reviews of Core Administrative Processes -- Core process reviews have identified a
number of opportunities to save money and improve efficiencies. Efforts by the Purchasing
Office to direct a greater proportion of University purchasing activity through prime-vendor
contracts are on track to realize $12-$15 million in savings in 2005, while improvements in
the capital construction process realized a $14.5 million savings in calendar 2004 alone.
The University also expects savings of $3-$8 million in annual savings from improved
management of employee health benefits plans.

More Stringent Guidelines on Debt for Capital Projects - In 2004, the University’s
Board of Trustees set guidelines limiting the issuance of new University debt and
establishing a $400 million cap for projects to be funded in the University’s August 2005
bond issue. In 2005, the Board strengthened these policies by expanding its guidance on
use of University debt, internal lines of credit and leases. All access to University-issued
debt requires pre-approval by the Provost, Senior Vice President for Business and Finance,
Treasurer, President and the Board of Trustees. Internal lines of credit are subject to
similar pre-approvals, with Board approval required for amounts greater than $5 million. All
leases are subject to Office of Business and Finance approval, with Board approval required
for leases with a present value of $1.5 million or more. These measures are intended to
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ensure that the University can continue to meet current commitments, take on new
commitments consistent with the Academic Plan, and protect the University’s “AA” credit
rating.

Endowment for Building Maintenance and Renewals -- In FY 2005, the Board of
Trustees approved the establishment of an endowment to provide for scheduled
maintenance and renewal needs on University buildings in future years. This is funded by
an assessment of $0.12 per square foot, currently, on General Funds space. This
endowment is expected to be at least $1 million at the end of FY 2006 and will grow
significantly in future years.

Enterprise-Wide Risk Management -- In 2005, the University embarked on a review of its
enterprise-wide risk management strategies and processes. The international consuiting
firm of Mercer Oliver Wyman has been retained to assist in this process. A preliminary
report is expected in early 2006.

In 2005, the University made continued progress towards its academic goals in a
challenging financial environment. Based on what is now known about FY 2006, University
management believes that Ohio State will continue to maintain its sound financial position in
the year ahead.

Looking ahead to FY 2007 and beyond, University management sees continuing challenges
regarding the levels of state support, increased resistance to tuition and fee increases,
increased competition from other institutions for the best faculty, staff and students, and
continued political uncertainty internationally. Consequently, we are committed to building
upon current efforts to diversify our revenue base, reduce our operating and capital costs,
and effectively manage our financial risks. By doing so, we feel The Ohio State University
will continue to maintain its sound financial position while continuing its progress towards
becoming a top-tier public research university.
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THE OHIO STATE UNIVERSITY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF NET ASSETS

June 30, 2005 and 2004
(in thousands)

2005 2004
ASSETS:
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents (including bond proceeds restricted for $ 74,872 $ 180,446
capital expenditures of $67,528 and $161,594, respectively)
Temporary investments 508,933 948,124
Accounts receivable, net 373,220 302,519
Notes receivable ~current portion, net 9,108 12,056
Pledges receivable - current portion, net 16,402 13,200
Accrued interest receivable 19,641 15,510
Inventories and prepaid expenses 52,399 61,990
Total Current Assets 1,054,575 1,633,845
Noncurrent Assets:
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 50,203 34,030
Notes receivable, net 62,946 59,324
Pledges receivable, net 22,482 29,758
Endowment investments 1,703,845 1,137,594
Other long-term investments 17,381 14,744
Capital assets, net 2,468,776 2,088,665
Total Noncurrent Assets 4,325,633 3,364,115
Total Assets $ 5,380,208 $ 4,897,960
LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS:
Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 368,127 $ 323,468
Deposits and deferred revenues 154,424 140,647
Commercial paper and current portion of bonds, notes and leases payable 480,580 411,270
Compensated absences - current portion 5,568 6,005
Obligations under annuity and life income agreements-current portion 4,572 4,804
Total Current Liabilities 1,013,271 886,194
Noncurrent Liabilities:
Bonds, notes and leases payable 396,960 403,336
Compensated absences 73,184 64,513
Obligations under annuity and life income agreements 46,288 47,459
Refundable advances for Federal Perkins loans 29,323 30,132
Other noncurrent liabilities 42,101 39,574
Total Noncurrent Liabilities 587,856 585,014
Total Liabilities 1,601,127 1,471,208
Net Assets:
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt 1,590,235 1,273,058
Restricted:
Nonexpendable 1,050,685 966,758
Expendable 462,574 465,002
Unrestricted 675,587 721,934
Total Net Assets 3,779,081 3,426,752
Total Liabilities and Net Assets $ 5,380,208 $ 4,897,960

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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THE OHIO STATE UNIVERSITY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES,
AND OTHER CHANGES IN NET ASSETS

Years Ended June 30, 2005 and 2004
{in thousands}

Operating Revenues:

Student tuition and fees (net of scholarship
allowances of $83,161 and $83,430, respectively)

Federal grants and contracts

State grants and contracts

Local grants and contracts

Private grants and contracts

Sales and services of educational departments

Sales and services of auxiliary enterprises (net of scholarship
allowances of $10,234 and $11,240, respectively)

Sales and services of the OSU Health System (net of charity
care of $41,786 and $30,725, respectively)

Sales and services of OSU Physicians, Inc., (net of charity
care of $1,716 and $1,394, respectively)

Other operating revenues

Total Operating Revenues

Operating Expenses:
Educational and General:
Instructional and departmental research
Separately budgeted research
Public service
Academic support
Student services
Institutional support
Operation and maintenance of plant
Scholarships and fellowships
Auxiliary enterprises
OSU Health System
OSU Physicians, Inc.
Depreciation
Total Operating Expenses

Operating Loss

Non-operating Revenues (Expenses):

State share of instruction and line-item appropriations

Gifts

Net investment income (loss)

Interest expense on plant debt

Other non-operating revenues(expenses)

Net Non-operating Revenue (Expense)

Income (Loss) before Other Revenues, Expenses,
Gains or Losses

State capital appropriations

Private capital gifts

Additions to permanent endowments
Increase (Decrease) in Net Assets
Net Assets - Beginning of Year

Net Assets - End of Year

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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2005 2004
$ 501,941 $ 436,218
301,817 291,036
51,800 47,873
23,225 25,123
157,634 144,942
73,044 69,952
160,711 163,162
1,078,181 932,200
189,101 112,036
46,487 40,367
2,583,941 2,262,909
617,890 577,500
333,554 317,310
95,737 110,750
108,489 103,502
70,020 65,906
93,472 109,331
84,288 73,133
54,448 49,336
174,206 178,645
1,071,762 937,748
169,005 101,778
145,976 141,477
3,018,847 2,766,416
(434,906) (503,507)
438,499 433,984
65,676 52,500
154,289 244,013
(29,168) (23,322)
(727) 3,705
628,569 710,880
193,663 207,373
87,305 102,709
16,638 27,647
54,723 51,478
352,329 389,207
3,426,752 3,037,545
$ 3779081 § 3,426,752




THE OHIO STATE UNIVERSITY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years Ended June 30, 2005 and 2004

{in thousands)

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Tuition and fee receipts

Grant and contract receipts

Receipts for sales and services

Payments to or on behalf of employees
University employee benefit payments
Payments to vendors for supplies and services
Payments to students and fellows

Student loans issued

Student loans collected
Student loan interest and fees collected
Other receipts (payments)

Net cash provided (used) by operating activities

Cash Flows from Noncapital Financing Activities:
State share of instruction and line-item appropriations
Gift receipts for current use

Additions to permanent endowments

Drawdowns of federal direct loan proceeds
Disbursements of federa! direct loans to students
Disbursement of loan proceeds to related organization
Amounts received for annuity and life income funds
Amounts paid to annuitants and life beneficiaries
Agency funds receipts

Agency funds disbursements

Net cash provided (used) by noncapital financing activities

Cash Flows from Capital Financing Activities:
Proceeds from capital debt

State capital appropriations

Gift receipts for capital projects

Payments for purchase or construction of capital assets
Principal payments on capital debt and leases

Interest payments on capital debt and leases

Net cash provided (used) by capital financing activities

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:

Net (purchases) sales of temporary investments

Proceeds from sales and maturities of long-term investments
Investment income, net of related fees

Purchases of long-term investments

Net cash provided (used) by investing activities

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash

Cash and Cash Equivalents - Beginning of Year

Cash and Cash Equivalents - End of Year

2005 2004
$ 388,395 $ 348,477
521,681 511,419
1,478,045 1,241,448
(1,417.472) (1,266,231)
(333,815) (319,664)
(915,504) (860,782)
(50,502) (42,786)
(13,177) (14,534)
13,062 16,989
1,721 1,992
45,871 50,475
(281,695) (333,195)
438,499 433,984
69,751 68,268
54,723 51,478
264,480 244,648
(263,085) (244,571)
(666) (8,164)
3,296 8,250
(4,698) (4,473)
4,857 4,857
(4,503) (4,566)
562,654 549,711
174,622 390,955
86,300 91,950
16,638 27,647
(527,563) (346,387)
(111,916) (158,037)
(28,938) (19,054)
(390,857) (12,926)
439,192 (249,698)
1,371,130 1,075,162
59,284 57,072
(1,849,109) (1,042,993)
20,497 (160,457)
(89,401) 43,133
214,476 171,343
$ 125,075 $ 214,476
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THE OHIO STATE UNIVERSITY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS, Cont'd

Reconciliation of Net Operating Loss to Net Cash
Provided (Used) by Operating Activities:
Operating loss $ (434,906) $ (503,507)
Adjustments to reconcile net operating loss to net cash
provided (used) by operating activities:

Depreciation expense 145,976 141,477
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable, net (71,092) (7,779)
Notes receivable, net (9) (3,797)
Accrued interest receivable 2 (201)
Inventories and prepaid expenses 9,591 (266)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 45,177 35,898
Deposits and deferred credits 13,386 2,092
Compensated absences 8,234 5,977
Refundable advances for federal Perkins loans (809) (1,038)
Other noncurrent liabilities 2,755 (2,051)
Net cash provided (used) by operating activities $ (281,695) $ (333,195)
Non Cash Transactions:
Equipment $ 6,784 3 2,591
Capital Lease (6,784) (2,591)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements — Years Ended June 30, 2005 and 2004
(dollars in thousands)

NOTE 1 — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING AND REPORTING POLICIES
Organization

The Ohio State University is a land grant institution created in 1870 by the Ohio General
Assembly under provisions of the Morrill Act. The university is one of several state-
supported universities in Ohio. It is declared by statute to be a body politic and corporate
and an instrumentality of the State.

The university is governed by a eleven member Board of Trustees which is granted
authority under Ohio law to do all things necessary for the proper maintenance and
continual successful operation of the university. Nine trustees are appointed for staggered
nine-year terms by the Governor with the advice and consent of the state Senate. In
addition, two non-voting student members are appointed to the Board of Trustees for
staggered two-year terms.

The Board of Trustees has responsibility for all the university's financial affairs and assets.
The university operates largely on a decentralized basis by delegating this authority to its
academic and support departments. The Board must approve the annual budgets for
unrestricted academic and support functions, departmental earnings operations and
restricted funds operations, but these budgets are managed at the department level.

Basis of Presentation
The accompanying financial statements present the accounts of the following entities:

The Ohio State University and its hospitals and clinics;
The Ohio State University Foundation, a not-for-profit fundraising organization
operating exclusively for the benefit of The Ohio State University;

Two separate statutory entities for which the university has special responsibility
e Ohio Agricultural Research and Development Center
e Ohio Supercomputer Center

Twelve legally independent corporations engaged in activities related to the
university
e The Ohio State University Research Foundation
The Ohio State University Student Loan Foundation, Inc.
Transportation Research Center of Ohio, Inc.
Campus Partners for Community Urban Redevelopment, Inc.
University Affiliates, Inc.
Reading Recovery and Early Literacy, Inc.
Ohio State University Retirees Association
OSU Managed Health Care Systems, Inc.
The Ohio State University Physicians, Inc.
UMC Partners
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¢ Prologue Research International, Inc.
e Oval Limited

Component units (legally separate organizations for which the university is financially
accountable) comprise, in part, the university’s reporting entity. Governmental Accounting
Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 14, The Financial Reporting Entity, defines
financial accountability. The criteria for determining financial accountability include the
following circumstances:

+ Appointment of a voting majority of an organization’s governing authority and
the ability of the primary government (i.e. the university) to either impose its will
on that organization or the potential for the organization to provide specific
financial benefits to, or impose specific financial burdens on, the primary
government, or;

» An organization is fiscally dependent on the primary government

The legally separate organizations listed above meet the financial accountability criteria
set forth in GASB Statement No. 14. In addition, these organizations provide services
entirely, or almost entirely, to the university or otherwise exclusively, or almost exclusively,
benefit the university. Therefore, the transactions and balances for these organizations
have been blended with those of the university.

The university, as a component unit of the State of Ohio, is included as a discrete entity in
the State of Ohio’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Report.

Basis of Accounting

The financial statements of the university have been prepared in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, as prescribed
by the GASB. The university is reporting as a special purpose government engaged in
business type activities (BTA). Business type activities are those that are financed in
whole or in part by fees charged to external parties for goods and services. In accordance
with BTA reporting, the university presents Management’s Discussion and Analysis; a
Consolidated Statement of Net Assets; a Consolidated Statement of Revenues,
Expenses and Other Changes in Net Assets; a Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows;
and Notes to the Financial Statements.

The university follows all GASB pronouncements as well as Financial Accounting
Standards Board (“FASB”) Statements and Interpretations, Accounting Principles Board
(“APB”) Opinions and Accounting Research Bulletins of the Committee on Accounting
Procedures issued on or before November 30, 1989 unless those pronouncements
conflict with or contradict GASB pronouncements. The university has elected not to apply
FASB Statements and Interpretations issued after November 30, 1989.
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The university’s financial resources are classified for accounting and reporting purposes
into the following four net asset categories:

+ Invested in capital assets, net of related debt: Capital assets, net of
accumulated depreciation and outstanding principal balances of debt attributable
to the acquisition, construction or improvement of those assets. These balances
are maintained in the plant funds in the university’s detailed accounting records.

o Restricted - nonexpendable: Net assets subject to externally-imposed
stipulations that they be maintained in perpetuity by the university. These assets
primarily consist of the university’s permanent endowment funds.

o Restricted - expendable: Net assets whose use is subject to externally-imposed
stipulations that can be fulfilled by actions of the university pursuant to those
stipulations or that expire by the passage of time. These resources include the
current restricted funds, student loan funds, certain plant funds, annuity and life
income funds, and restricted funds internally designated to function as
endowments (restricted quasi-endowments).

+ Unrestricted: Net assets that are not subject to externally-imposed stipulations.
These resources include educational and general funds, auxiliary funds,
hospitals funds, certain plant funds, and unrestricted quasi-endowments.
Substantially all unrestricted net assets are internally designated for use by
university departments to support working capital needs, to fund related
academic or research programs, and to provide for unanticipated shortfalls in
revenues and deviations in enrollment.

Under the university’s decentralized management structure, it is the responsibility of
individual departments to determine whether to first apply restricted or unrestricted
resources when an expense is incurred for purposes for which both restricted and
unrestricted net assets are available.

For internal financial management purposes, the university classifies financial resources into
funds that reflect the specific activities, objectives or restrictions of the resources.

Cash and Investments

Cash and cash equivalents consist primarily of petty cash, demand deposit accounts,
money market accounts, and savings accounts and include bond proceeds restricted for
capital expenditures. Restricted cash and cash equivalents at June 30, 2005 and 2004
consist of cash and cash equivalents restricted for endowments and annuity/life income
funds.

Investments are carried at market value in accordance with GASB Statement No. 31,

Accounting and Financial Reporting for Certain Investments and for External Investment
Pools. The fair value of private equity investments is based on estimated current values
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and independent appraisals. The weighted average method is used for purposes of
determining gains and losses on the sale of investments. The specific identification method
is used for purposes of determining gains and losses on the sale of gifted securities.

The university holds investments in limited partnerships, private equity and other
investments, which are carried at estimated fair value provided by the management of these
funds. The purpose of this alternative investment class is to increase portfolio diversification
and reduce risk due to the low correlation with other asset classes. Methods for
determining estimated fair values include discounted cash flows and estimates provided by
general partners. Because these investments are not readily marketable, the estimated
value is subject to uncertainty and, therefore, may differ from the value that would have
been used had a ready market for the investments existed, and such differences could be
material. The amount of gain or loss associated with these investments is reflected in the
accompanying financial statements using the equity method of accounting. As of June 30,
2005, the university has made commitments to limited partnerships totaling $5,600 that
have not yet been funded.

Investment in real estate is carried at cost, if purchased, or appraised value at the date of
the gift. Holdings in real estate investment trusts (REITs) are carried at estimated fair
values. The carrying and market values of real estate at June 30, 2005 are $87,596 and
$109,241, respectively.

Investment income is recognized on an accrual basis. Interest and dividend income is
recorded when earned.

Endowment Policy

The university Endowment Fund consists of more than 3,000 named funds. Each named
fund is assigned a number of shares in the university Endowment Fund based on the value
of the gifts to that named fund. For donor restricted endowments, the Uniform Management
of Institutional Funds Act, as adopted in Ohio, permits the university’s Board of Trustees to
appropriate an amount of realized and unrealized endowment appreciation as the Board
deems prudent. Net realized and unrealized endowment appreciation, after the spending
rule distributions, is retained with the endowment.

For fiscal year 2004, the university’s policy for all endowment funds was to distribute to each
named fund income equal to 5% of the average market value per share of the endowment
during the past three years.

For fiscal year 2005, the university’s policy for existing endowment funds was to distribute to
each named fund income equal to 4.75% of the average market value per share of the
endowment during the past five years. For new endowment funds, the university’s policy is
to distribute to each named fund income equal to 4% of the average market value per share
of the endowment during the past five years.

Endowment income is distributed to nhamed endowment funds using the share method of
accounting for pooled investments. Based on this method, undistributed gains from prior
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years were transferred from the endowment fund to current restricted funds. These
transfers total $77,551 and $63,479 in fiscal years 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Gift Pledges Receivable

The university receives pledges and bequests of financial support from corporations,
foundations and individuals. Revenue is recognized when a pledge representing an
unconditional promise to pay is received and all eligibility requirements have been met. In
the absence of such promise, revenue is recognized when the gift is received. In
accordance with GASB Statement No. 33, endowment pledges are not recorded as assets
until the related gift is received.

Inventories

The university's inventories, which consist principally of publications, general stores and
other goods for resale by earnings operations, are valued at the lower of moving average
cost or market. The inventories of the hospitals, which consist principally of
pharmaceuticals and operating supplies, are valued at cost on a first-in, first-out basis.

Capital Assets and Collections

Capital assets are long-life assets in the service of the university and include land, buildings,
improvements, equipment and library books. Capital assets are stated at cost or fair value
at date of gift. Depreciation of capital assets (excluding land and construction in progress)
is provided on a straight-line basis over the following estimated useful lives:

Type of Asset Estimated Useful Life
Improvements other than buildings | 20 years
Buildings 10 to 100 years
Moveable equipment and furniture | 5 to 15 years
Library Books 10 years

Interest incurred during the construction of capital assets is included in the cost of the asset
when capitalized. $7,250 and $3,478 of interest was capitalized in the years ended June
30, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The university does not capitalize works of art or historical
treasures that are held for exhibition, education, research and public service. These
collections are neither disposed of for financial gain nor encumbered in any way.
Accordingly, such collections are not recognized or capitalized for financial statement
purposes.

Deferred Revenues
Deferred revenues primarily consist of receipts relating to tuition, room, board, and athletic

events received in advance of the services to be provided. Tuition and fees relating to the
summer academic quarter are recorded as revenue in the year to which they pertain. The
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university will recognize revenue to the extent these services are provided over the coming
fiscal year.

Operating and Non-Operating Revenues

The university defines operating activities, for purposes of reporting on the Statement of
Revenues, Expenses, and Other Changes in Net Assets, as those activities that generally
result from exchange transactions, such as payments received for providing services and
payments made for goods or services received. With the exception of interest expense on
long-term indebtedness, substantially all university expenses are considered to be operating
expenses. Certain significant revenue streams relied upon for operations are recorded as
non-operating revenues, as defined by GASB Statement No. 35, including state
appropriations, current-use gifts and investment income.

Tuition, Room and Board

Student tuition and residence hall fees are presented net of scholarships and fellowships
applied to student accounts. Stipends and other payments made directly to students are
presented as scholarship and fellowship expense. Fee authorizations provided to graduate
teaching, research and administrative associates as part of an employment arrangement
are presented in instruction, research and other functional categories of operating expense.

State Support

The university is a state-assisted institution of higher education which receives a student
enroliment-based instructional subsidy from the State of Ohio. This subsidy, which is based
upon a formula devised by the Ohio Board of Regents, is determined annually and is
adjusted to state resources available.

The state also provides line-item appropriations which partially support the current
operations of various activities, which include clinical teaching expenditures incurred at The
Ohio State University Hospitals and other health sciences teaching facilities, The Ohio State
University Extension, the Ohio Agricultural Research and Development Center, and the
Center for Labor Research.

In addition to current operating support, the State of Ohio provides the funding for and
constructs major plant facilities on the university's campuses. The funding is obtained from
the issuance of revenue bonds by the Ohio Public Facilities Commission (OPFC) which, in
turn, initiates the construction and subsequent lease of the facility by the Ohio Board of
Regents.

Such facilities are reflected as buildings or construction in progress in the accompanying
balance sheet. Neither the obligations for the revenue bonds issued by OPFC nor the
annual debt service charges for principal and interest on the bonds are reflected in the
university's financial statements. Debt service is funded through appropriations to the Ohio
Board of Regents by the General Assembly.
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These facilities are not pledged as collateral for the revenue bonds. Instead, the bonds are
supported by a pledge of monies in the Higher Education Bond Service Fund and future
payments to be received by such fund, which is established in the custody of the Treasurer
of State.

Government Grants and Contracts

Government grants and contracts normally provide for the recovery of direct and indirect
costs and are subject to audit by the appropriate government agency. Federal funds are
subject to an annual OMB Circular A-133 audit. Grants and contracts determined to be
exchange transactions are recognized as revenue when the exchange occurs. Grants and
contracts determined to be non- exchange transactions are recognized as revenue when all
eligibility requirements have been met. Recovery of related indirect costs is generally
recorded at fixed rates negotiated for a period of one to three years.

Hospital Revenue

Revenue received under third-party cost reimbursement agreements (primarily the federal
Medicare and Medicaid programs) are subject to examination and retroactive adjustments
by the agencies administering the programs. In the normal course of business, the
hospitals contest certain issues resulting from examination of prior years' reimbursement
reports. The accompanying financial statements include provisions for estimated retroactive
adjustments arising from such examinations and contested issues. The hospitals recognize
settlements of protested adjustments or appeals upon resolution of the matters.

OSU Physicians Revenue

Net patient service revenue represents amounts received and the estimated net realizable
amounts due from patients and third-party payors for services rendered. OSU Physicians
provides care to patients under various reimbursable agreements, including Medicare and
Medicaid. These arrangements provide for payment for covered services at agreed-upon
rates and under certain fee schedules and various discounts from charges. Provisions have
been made in the consolidated financial statements for estimated contractual adjustments,
representing the difference between the customary charges for services rendered and
related reimbursement.

Management Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles, generally
accepted in the United States of America, requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and
expenditures during the reporting period. Disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at
the date of the financial statements may also be affected. Actual results could differ from
those estimates.
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Newly Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In November 2003, GASB issued Statement No. 42, Accounting and Financial Reporting for
Impairment of Capital Assets and for Insurance Recoveries. This statement establishes
accounting and financial reporting standards for impairment of capital assets. The
provisions of this statement are effective for periods beginning after December 31, 2004.

In April 2004, GASB issued Statement No. 43, Financial Reporting for Postemployment
Benefits Other than Pension Plans. The standards in this Statement apply for trust funds
included in the financial reports of plan sponsors or employers, as well as for the stand-
alone financial reports of OPEB plans or the public employee retirement systems, or other
third parties, that administer them. The provisions of this statement are effective for periods
beginning after December 15, 2005.

In June 2004, GASB issued Statement No. 45, Accounting and Financial Reporting by
Employers for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions. This Statement establishes
standards for the measurement, recognition, and display of OPEB expense/expenditures
and related liabilities (assets), note disclosures, and, if applicable, required supplementary
information in the financial reports of state and local governmental employers. This
Statement is effective for periods beginning after December 15, 2006.

In June 2005, GASB issued Statement No. 47, Accounting for Termination Benefits. This
statement establishes standards for accounting and financial reporting for termination
benefits provided by employees including early retirement incentives, severance benefits
and other termination-related benefits. The provisions of this statement are effective for
financial statements for periods beginning after June 15, 2005.

University management has not yet determined the impact that implementation of GASB
Statements 42, 43, 45 and 47 will have on the university’s financial statements.

Other

The university is exempt from income taxes as a non-profit organization under Internal
Revenue Code §115 and Internal Revenue Service regulations. Any unrelated business
income is taxable.

Certain reclassifications have been made to the 2004 comparative information to conform
with the 2005 presentation.

NOTE 2 — CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

At June 30, 2005, the carrying amount of the university's cash and cash equivalents for all
funds is $125,075 as compared to bank balances of $167,335. The differences in carrying
amount and bank balances are caused by outstanding checks and deposits in transit. Of
the bank balances, $4,004 is covered by federal deposit insurance and $163,331 is
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uninsured but collateralized by pools of securities pledged by the depository banks and held
in the name of the respective banks.

NOTE 3 — INVESTMENTS

The university’s investment policy authorizes the university to invest non-endowment funds
in the following investments:

o Obligations of the US Treasury and other federal agencies and
instrumentalities

Municipal and state bonds

Certificates of deposit

Repurchase agreements

Mutual funds and mutual fund pools

Money market funds

The university’s investment policy authorizes the university to invest endowment funds in the
following investments:

o Obligations of the US Treasury and other federal agencies and
instrumentalities

Municipal and state bonds

Certificates of deposit (domestic and eurodollar)
Repurchase agreements

Mutual funds

Commercial paper

Banker’s acceptances

Corporate bonds and notes

Common and preferred stock

Real estate

Guaranteed investment contracts

Collateralized mortgage obligations
Asset-backed securities

Private equity and venture capital

The university’s endowment fund operates with a long-term investment goal of preserving
the purchasing power of the principal in a diversified portfolio. Mutual funds held by the
university include a wide range of investments, including hedge funds. These hedge funds
may include, but are not limited to, investments in equity securities, mutual funds, limited
and general partnerships, foreign securities, short sales positions, distressed securities,
fixed income securities, options, currencies, commodities, futures and derivatives. The
university’s objective for investing in these hedge funds is to provide stable, absolute returns
that are uncorrelated to fluctuations in the stock and bond markets.
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US Government and Agency securities are invested through trust agreements with banks
who keep the securities in their safekeeping accounts at the Federal Reserve Bank in "book
entry" form. The banks internally designate the securities as owned by or pledged to the
university. Common stocks, corporate bonds, money market instruments, mutual funds and
other investments are invested through trust agreements with banks who keep the
investments in their safekeeping accounts at the Depository Trust Company, Bank One or
State Street in "book entry” form. The banks internally designate the securities as owned by
or pledged to the university.

The values of investments at June 30, 2005 and 2004 are as follows:

2005 2004

Common stock $ 492,865 $ 431,387
Equity mutual funds 679,019 730,731
US government obligations 89,117 95,088
US government agency obligations 197,539 251,160
Repurchase agreements 82,730 -
Corporate bonds and notes 75,389 78,396
Bond mutual funds 416,494 381,150
Real estate 87,596 60,757
Partnerships and hedge funds 83,954 49,179
Other 25,456 22,614

Total $ 2,230,159 $ 2,100,462

The bulk of the university’s investment assets are accounted for on a pooled basis. The
following chart summarizes total pooled and non-pooled amounts at June 30, 2005 and
2004, respectively:

Pooled Non-pooled Total
Temporary investments $ 461,974 $ 46,959 $ 508,933
Endowment investments 1,672,938 30,907 1,703,845
Other long-term investments 11,881 5,500 17,381
Total 2005 $2,146,793 $83,366 | $2,230,159
Total 2004 $1,999,900 |  $100,562 | $2,100,462

Net appreciation in the fair value of investments includes both realized and unrealized gains
and losses on investments. During the year ended June 30, 2005, the university realized a
net gain of $92,548 from the sale of investments. The calculation of realized gains and
losses is independent of the net appreciation in the fair value of investments held at year-
end. Realized gains and losses on investments that had been held for more than one fiscal
year and sold in the current year were included as a change in the fair value of investments
reported in the prior year and the current year. The net appreciation in the fair value of
investments during the year ended June 30, 2005, was $90,908. This amount includes all
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changes in fair value, both realized and unrealized, that occurred during the year. The
unrealized depreciation during the year on investments was $1,640.

The components of the net investment income (loss) are as follows:

Net -
Appreciation
(Depreciation)
Interest and in Market Value  Net Investment
Dividends (net) of Investments  Income (Loss)

Temporary investments $ 54,339 $ (1,436) $52,903
Endowment investments 756 92,213 92,969
Other long-term investments 8,286 131 8,417
Total 2005 $ 63,381 $ 90,908 $154,289
Total 2004 $ 59,658 | $ 184,355 | $ 244,013

Additional Risk Disclosures for Investments:

Statement Nos. 3 and 40 of the Governmental Accounting Standards Board require certain
additional disclosures related to the interest-rate, credit and foreign currency risks
associated with deposits and investments.

Interest-rate risk — Interest-rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely
affect the fair value of an investment. Investments with interest rates that are fixed for
longer periods are likely to be subject to more variability in their fair values as a result of
future changes in interest rates.

The maturities of the university’s interest-bearing investments at June 30, 2005 are as
follows:

Investment Maturities (in years)
Fair Value Less than 1 1to5 6to 10 More than 20

US government obligations $ 89,117 $ 3594 § 51,340 §$ 19,078 $ 15,105

US agency obligations 197,539 15,202 131,101 34,981 16,255
Repurchase agreements 82,730 82,730 - - -
Corporate bonds 75,389 3,089 38,975 13,180 20,145
Bond mutual funds 416,494 80,014 174,194 104,017 58,269

Total $ 861,269 $184,629 $395610 $171,256 $109,774

Credit risk — Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will
not fulfill its obligations. Credit quality information — as commonly expressed in terms of the
credit ratings issued by nationally recognized statistical rating organizations such as
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Moody’s Investors Service, Standard & Poor’s, or Fitch Ratings — provides a current
depiction of potential variable cash flows and credit risk.

The credit ratings of the university’s interest-bearing investments at June 30, 2005 are as
follows:

us Bond
Credit Rating Government US Agency Repurchase Corporate Mutual
(Moody’s) Total Obligations Obligations  Agreements Bonds Funds
Aaa $ 655,302 $89,117 $197,539 $82,730 $22646 $263,270
Aa 38,293 9,109 29,184
A 90,793 24,844 65,949
Baa 50,224 18,442 31,782
Ba 4,086 348 3,738
B 21,026 21,026
Caa 1,545 1,545
Ca -
Cc -
Total $ 861,269 $89,117 $ 197,539 $82,730 $75389 $416,494

Foreign currency risk — Foreign currency risk is the risk that changes in exchange rates
will adversely affect the fair value of an investment or deposit. At June 30, 2005, the
university’s exposure to foreign currency risk is as follows:

Equity Bond
Common Mutual Mutual Corporate
Currency Stock Funds Funds Bonds Other

Australian dollar $ 417 $ 7061 $ 156 - -
Canadian dollar 740 8,982 987 - -
Euro 7,707 43,109 21,298 $ 234 -
Hong Kong dollar 539 2,002 - - -
Japanese yen 5,176 26,337 14,909 - -
Korean won - 3,443 - - -
Pound sterling 5,829 32,570 2,753 - -
Swedish krona 300 2,171 - - -
Swiss franc 2,243 6,217 - - -
Taiwan dollar - 2,875 - - -
Other foreign currencies 719 13,738 831 - $ 26

Total $23670 $148,505 $40,934 $ 234 $ 26
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NOTE 4 — ACCOUNTS, NOTES AND PLEDGES RECEIVABLE

Accounts receivable at June 30, 2005 and 2004 consist of the following:

2005 2004
Patient receivables — OSU Health System $453,599 $ 315,288
Patient receivables — OSU Physicians, Inc. 63,571 49,077
Grant and contract receivables 77,772 65,725
Tuition and fees receivable 47,687 42,699
Receivables for departmental and auxiliary sales and services 38,320 17,860
State and federal receivables 19,427 18,719
700,376 509,368
Less: Allowances for doubtful accounts 327,156 206,849
$373,220 $ 302,519

Notes receivable at June 30, 2005 consist primarily of Perkins Loans and are net of an
allowance for doubtful accounts of $12,405. Federal capital contributions to the Perkins
loan programs represent advances which are ultimately refundable to the federal
government.

In accordance with GASB Statement No. 33, Accounting and Reporting for Non-exchange

Transactions, the university has recorded $48,318 in non-endowment pledges receivable at
June 30, 2005 and a related allowance for doubtful accounts of $9,434.

NOTE 5 — CAPITAL ASSETS

Capital assets activity for the year ended June 30, 2005 is summarized as follows:

Beginning Ending

Balance Additions Retirements Balance
Land $ 42,202 $ 4,934 $3,120| $ 44,016
Improvements other than buildings 193,563 25,925 1,647 217,841
Buildings and fixed equipment 2,281,483 396,167 7.237 2,670,413
Movable equipment and furniture 685,915 114,322 51,854 748,383
Library books 160,540 2,816 2,313 161,043
Construction in progress 377423 (6,670) - 370,753
3,741,126 537,494 66,171 4,212,449
Less: Accumulated depreciation 1,652,461 145,976 54,764 1,743,673
Capital assets, net $ 2,088,665 $ 391,518 $ 11,407 | $2,468,776
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Capital assets activity for the year ended June 30, 2004 is summarized as follows:

Beginning Ending

Balance Additions Retirements Balance
Land $ 42,025 $ 177 $ -1$ 42,202
Improvements other than buildings 181,959 11,606 2 193,563
Buildings and fixed equipment 2,141,374 141,031 922 2,281,483
Movable equipment and furniture 655,875 67,106 37,066 685,915
Library books 158,472 3,673 1,605 160,540
Construction in progress 237,643 139,780 - 377,423
3,417,348 363,373 39,595 3,741,126
Less: Accumulated depreciation 1,547,993 141,477 37,009 1,652,461
Capital assets, net $ 1,869,355 $ 221,896 $ 2,586 | $ 2,088,665

In the above tables, additions to construction in progress represent expenditures for new
projects, net of the amount of capital assets placed in service.
NOTE 6 — ACCOUNTS PAYABLE, ACCRUED EXPENSES AND SELF-INSURANCE

Accounts payable and accrued expenses at June 30, 2005 and 2004 consist of the
following:

2005 2004
Payables to vendors for supplies and services $ 137,049 $ 160,937
Accrued compensation and benefits 86,983 74,916
Retirement system contributions payable 24,908 21,790
Self-insurance accruals:
Medical malpractice 71,549 34,891
Employee health insurance 15,373 15,090
Current portion of amounts due to third-party 9,414 (180)
payers — OSU Health System
Other accrued expenses 22,851 16,024
$ 368,127 $ 323,468

Self-Insurance Programs

The Hospitals have established trusteed self-insurance funds for professional medical
malpractice liability claims with a $4 million limit per occurrence with no annual aggregate.
The university self-insurance funds have insurance in excess of $4 million per occurrence
through Oval Limited, a blended component unit of the university. Oval Limited provides
coverage with limits of $25 million per occurrence and in the aggregate. A portion of the
risks written by Oval Limited to date is reinsured by a single reinsurance company rated A
by A.M. Best. The reinsurance company’s net retention was 50% of the first $15 million and
100% for the remaining $10 million per occurrence and in the aggregate for the years
ended June 30, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The estimated liability and the related
contributions to the fund are based upon an independent actuarial determination as of June
30, 2005. OSU Physicians, Inc. participates in the university self-insurance fund for
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professional medical malpractice liability claims. OSU Physicians premiums incurred and
paid to the university were $9,112 and $5,334 during the years ended June 30, 2005 and
2004, respectively.

The Hospitals' estimate of professional malpractice liability includes provisions for known
claims and actuarially determined estimates of incurred but not reported claims and
incidents. This liability at June 30, 2005 of the anticipated future payments on gross claims
is estimated at its present value of $44,582 discounted at an estimated rate of 5.0%
(university funds) and an additional $26,967 discounted at an estimated rate of 3.0% (Oval
Limited).

Although actual experience upon the ultimate disposition of the claims may vary from this
estimate, the self-insurance fund assets of $81,697 are more than the recorded liability at
June 30, 2005, and the surplus of $10,148 is included in unrestricted net assets.

The university is also self-insured with a stop-loss ceiling of $4,640 for employee health
insurance. As of June 30, 2005, $15,373 is recorded as a liability relating to both claims
received but not paid and estimates of claims incurred but not yet reported.

Changes in the reported liabilities since June 30, 2003 result from the following activities:

Malpractice Health and Life
2005 2004 2005 2004
Liability at beginning of fiscal year $34,891 | $28,458 $15,000 | $20,337
Current year claims, changes in estimates 38,530 8,012 125,569 84,735
Claim payments (1,872) | (1,579) (125,286) | (89,982)
Balance at fiscal year end $71,549 | $34,891 $15,373 | $15,090

NOTE 7 — DEBT

The university may finance the construction, renovation and acquisition of certain facilities
through the issuance of debt obligations which may include general receipts bonds,
certificates of participation, commercial paper, capital lease obligations and other
borrowings.
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Debt activity for the year ended June 30, 2005 is as follows:

Commercial Paper:
Series E
Series F

Notes:

Ohio Board of Regents Note, due through

2006
Capital One Funding Corporation, due
through 2014
Fifth Third Note, due through 2008
Fifth Third Line of Credit
ESIC New Markets Partners Il note
General Receipts Bonds - Fixed Rate:
1999A, due serially through 2029
2002A, due serially through 2031
2003B, due serially through 2033

General Receipts Bonds — Variable Rate:

1997, due serially through 2027

1999B1, due serially through 2029

1999B2, due 2006

2001, due serially through 2032

2003C, due serially through 2031
Capital Lease Obligations
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Beginning Ending Current
Balance Additions  Reductions  Balance Portion
$ 22,100 $ 22,100 - -

-| $150,000 $ 150,000 | $150,000

425 213 212 212
2,405 182 2,223 190
9,691 1,403 4,546 6,548 2,948
300 4,663 4,829 134 134
12,000 12,000 -

72,150 3,185 68,965 2,410
139,340 6,010 133,330 6,445
226,040 48,695 177,345 6,255
47,340 3,800 43,540 43,540
64,600 4,600 60,000 60,000
12,100 3,800 8,300 8,300
76,950 76,950 76,950
119,255 2,900 116,355 116,355
21,910 6,784 7,056 21,638 6,841
$ 814,606 $174,850 $111,916 $877,540 | $480,580




Debt activity for the year ended June 30, 2004 is as follows:

Commercial Paper:
Series E
Notes:

Ohio Board of Regents Note, due through

2006
Capital One Funding Corporation, due
through 2014
Fifth Third Note, due through 2008
Fifth Third Line of Credit
2003 Short Term Note Payable
General Receipts Bonds — Fixed Rate:
1999A, due serially through 2029
2002A, due serially through 2031
2003B, due serially through 2033

General Receipts Bonds — Variable Rate:

1997, due serially through 2027

1999B1, due serially through 2029

1999B2, due 2006

2001, due serially through 2032

2003C, due serially through 2031
Capital Lease Obligations

Debt obligations are generally callable by the university, bear interest at fixed and variable rates
ranging from 0% to 6% and mature at various dates through 2033. Maturities and interest on

Beginning Ending Current
Balance Additions  Reductions Balance Portion
$ 70150 | $ 20450 | $ 68500 $ 22,100 $ 22,100

637 212 425 213
2,575 170 2,405 177
3,041 8,700 2,050 9,691 4,555

307 300 307 300 300

50,965 50,965
75,190 3,040 72,150 3,185
145,075 5,735 139,340 6,010
233,780 7,740 226,040 48,695
50,840 3,500 47,340 47,340
69,300 4,700 64,600 64,600
15,600 3,500 12,100 12,100
76,950 76,950 76,950
121,295 2,040 119,255 119,255
25,603 2,590 6,283 21,910 5,790
$586,233 | $387,115 | $158,742 | $814,606 | $411,270

debt obligations for the next five years and in five-year periods are as follows:

Commercial Paper, Bonds

Capital Leases and

and Notes Payable Certificates of Participation

Principal Interest Principal Interest
2006 $ 473,739 $ 24,139 $ 6,841 $ 727
2007 17,552 17,686 5,024 505
2008 19,588 17,118 2,415 381
2009 18,659 16,470 1,166 323
2010 19,145 15,762 1,022 275
2011-2015 96,208 66,627 3,382 852
2016-2020 78,865 45,889 1,788 138
2021-2025 60,585 26,216
2026-2030 49,565 12,800
2031-2033 21,996 1,810

$ 855,902 $ 244 517 $ 21,638 $3,201
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General receipts bonds are backed by the unrestricted receipts of the university, excluding
certain items as described in the bond indentures.

The outstanding bond indentures do not require mandatory reserves for future payment of
principal and interest. However, the university has set aside $34,336 for future debt service
which is included in unrestricted net assets.

In prior years, the university defeased various bonds by placing the proceeds of new bonds
into an irrevocable trust to provide for all future debt service payments on the old bonds.
The defeased bonds are as follows:

Amount
Amount Outstanding at
Defeased June 30, 2005

Revenue Bonds:
Series | $5,951 $1,025

Neither the outstanding indebtedness nor the related trust account assets for the above
bonds are included in the university’s financial statements.

Variable Rate Demand Bonds

Series 1997, 1999B1, 1999B2, 2001 and 2003C variable rate demand bonds bear interest
at rates based upon yield evaluations at par of comparable securities. The maximum
interest rate allowable and the effective average interest rate from issue date to June 30,
2005 are as follows:

Interest Rate Not  Effective Average

Series: to Exceed Interest Rate
1997 12% 2.329 %
1999 B1 12% 1.994 %
1999 B2 12% 2.157 %
2001 12% 1.365 %
2003 C 12% 1.365 %

At the discretion of the university, the interest rate on the bonds can be converted to a fixed
rate. The bonds may be redeemed by the university or sold by the bondholders to a
remarketing agent appointed by the university at any time prior to conversion to a fixed rate
at a price equal to the principal amount plus accrued interest.

The university’s variable rate demand bonds mature at various dates through 2032. GASB
Interpretation No. 1, Demand Bonds Issued by State and Local Governmental Entities,
provides guidance on the balance sheet classification of these bonds. Under GASB
Interpretation No. 1, outstanding principal balances on variable rate demand bonds may be
classified as non-current liabilities if the issuer has entered into a “take-out agreement” to
convert bonds “put” but not resold into some other form of long-term obligation. In the

36 The Ohio State University



absence of such an agreement, the total outstanding principal balances for these bonds are
required to be classified as current liabilities.

Although it is the university’s intent to repay its variable rate demand bonds in accordance
with the maturities set forth in the bond offering circulars, the university does not have “take-
out agreements” in place per the GASB Interpretation No. 1 requirements. Accordingly, the
university has classified the total outstanding principal balances on its variable rate demand
bonds as current liabilities. The obligations totaled $305,145 and $320,245 at June 30,
2005 and 2004, respectively.

Commercial Paper

The General Receipts Commercial Paper Notes (the “Notes”) are limited obligations of the
university secured by a pledge of the General Receipts of the university. The Notes are not
debts or bonded indebtedness of the State of Ohio and are not general obligations of the
State of Ohio or the university, and neither the full faith and credit of the State of Ohio nor
the university are pledged to the payment of the Notes. The Notes have been issued to
provide for interim financing of various projects approved by the Board of Trustees. It is the
university’s intention to roll each maturity into new Notes as they mature and to issue
additional Notes as project expenditures are incurred. It is the university’s intention
ultimately to roll the Notes into permanent tax exempt bonds.

Capital Lease Obligations

Computer equipment and the facilities for child care, stores/receiving and ATI residence hall
are financed as capital leases. The original cost and lease obligations related to these
capital leases as of June 30, 2005 are $46,955 and $21,638 respectively. The original cost
and lease obligations related to these capital leases as of June 30, 2004 are $44,225 and
$21,910 respectively.

NOTE 8 — OPERATING LEASES
The university leases various buildings, office space, and equipment under operating lease
agreements. These facilities and equipment are not recorded as assets on the balance

sheet. The total rental expense under these agreements was $26,242 and $24,059 for the
years ended June 30, 2005 and 2004, respectively.
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Future minimum payments for all significant operating leases with initial or remaining terms
in excess of one year as of June 30, 2005 are as follows:

Year Ending June 30,
2006 $ 17,528
2007 12,077
2008 7,668
2009 5,484
2010 4,472
2011-2015 11,194
2016-2020 3,251
2021-2025 1,141
2026-2030 98
2031-2035 63
2036-2040 63
2041-2045 63
2046-3000 2,501

Total minimum lease payments $ 65,603

NOTE 9 — COMPENSATED ABSENCES
University employees earn vacation and sick leave on a monthly basis.

Classified civil service employees may accrue vacation benefits up to a maximum of three
years credit. Administrative and professional staff and faculty may accrue vacation benefits
up to a maximum of 240 hours. For all classes of employees, any earned but unused
vacation benefit is payable upon termination.

Sick leave may be accrued without limit. However, earned but unused sick leave benefits
are payable only upon retirement from the university with ten or more years of service with
the state. The amount of sick leave benefit payable at retirement is one fourth of the value
of the accrued but unused sick leave up to a maximum of 240 hours.

The university accrues sick leave liability for those employees who are currently eligible to
receive termination payments as well as other employees who are expected to become
eligible to receive such payments. This liability is calculated using the “termination payment
method” which is set forth in Appendix C, Example 4 of the GASB Statement No. 16,
Accounting for Compensated Absences. Under the termination method, the university
calculates a ratio, Sick Leave Termination Cost per Year Worked, that is based on the
university’s actual historical experience of sick leave payouts to terminated employees. This
ratio is then applied to the total years-of-service for current employees.

Certain employees of the university (mostly classified civil service employees) receive comp

time in lieu of overtime pay. Any unused comp time must be paid to the employee at
termination or retirement.
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NOTE 10 — NONCURRENT LIABILITIES

Non-current liability activity for the year ended June 30, 2005 is as follows:

Beginning Ending
Balance Additions Reductions Balance
Compensated absences $ 70,518 $ 13,802 $ 5,568 $ 78,752
Obligations under annuity and life
income agreements 52,263 3,169 4,572 50,860
Refundable advances for Federal
Perkins loans 30,132 - 809 29,323
Other non-current liabilities 39,574 4,527 2,000 42,101
192,487 $ 21,498 $ 12,949 201,036
Less: Current portion 10,809 10,140
$ 181,678 $ 190,896
Non-current liability activity for the year ended June 30, 2004 is as follows:
Beginning Ending
Balance Additions Reductions Balance
Compensated absences $ 64,541 $ 11,982 $ 6,005 $ 70,518
Obligations under annuity and life
income agreements 48,485 8,251 4473 52,263
Refundable advances for Federal
Perkins loans 31,170 - 1,038 30,132
Other non-current liabilities 37,081 4,493 2,000 39,574
181,277 $ 24,726 $13,516 192,487
Less: Current portion 9,496 10,809
$ 171,781 $ 181,678
Other non-current liabilities at June 30, 2005 and 2004 consist of the following:
2005 2004
Amounts due to third-party payers - OSU Health System $ 33,785 $ 29,030
Advance payments under exclusivity agreements 4,000 6,000
Bond premium 4,316 4,544
$ 42,101 $ 39,574

NOTE 11 — UNRESTRICTED AND RESTRICTED-EXPENDABLE NET ASSETS

Substantially all unrestricted net assets are internally designated for use by university
departments to support working capital needs, to fund related academic or research
programs, and to provide for unanticipated shortfalls in revenues and deviations in
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enrollment. Major components of unrestricted net assets at June 30, 2005 and 2004 are as

follows:

Educational and general
Auxiliary enterprises
OSU Health System
Loan funds

Unrestricted quasi-endowments

Plant

2005 2004

$478,312 $ 414,683
(3,017) (2,061)
151,835 158,403
2,716 2,705
43,651 43,312
2,090 104,892

$ 675,587 $ 721,934

Restricted expendable net assets are subject to various purpose or time-based restrictions
set forth by donors or granting agencies. Major components of restricted-expendable net
assets at June 30, 2005 and 2004 are as follows:

Current operations
Loan funds

Restricted quasi-endowments

Plant

2005 2004
$ 265,434 $ 278,858
41,033 40,927
139,399 130,433
16,708 14,784
$462,574 $ 465,002

NOTE 12 - OPERATING EXPENSES BY OBJECT

In accordance with requirements set forth by the Ohio Board of Regents, the university
reports operating expenses by functional classification on the Statement of Revenues,
Expenses and Other Changes in Net Assets. Operating expenses by object for the years
ended June 30, 2005 and 2004 are summarized as follows:

Year Ended June 30, 2005

Instruction

Separately budgeted research
Public service

Academic support

Student services

Institutional support

Operation and maintenance of plant
Scholarships and fellowships
Auxiliary enterprises

OSU Health System

OSU Physicians, Inc.
Depreciation

Total operating expenses

Compensation Supplies Scholarships
and and and Depreciation Total
Benefits Services Fellowships
$ 554,258 $ 63,632 $ 617,890
235,623 97,931 333,554
74,229 21,508 95,737
91,983 16,506 108,489
47,266 22,754 70,020
83,554 9,918 93,472
37,477 46,811 84,288
2,433 1,513 $ 50,502 54,448
85,245 88,961 174,206
546,105 525,657 1,071,762
120,008 48,997 169,005
$ 145,976 145,976
$ 1,878,181 $944,188 $ 50,502 $ 145,976 | $3,018,847
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Year Ended June 30, 2004

Compensation Supplies Scholarships

and and and Depreciation Total
Benefits Services Fellowships

Instruction $ 504,285 | $ 73,215 $ 577,500
Separately budgeted research 218,095 99,215 317,310
Public service 79,511 31,239 110,750
Academic support 85,535 17,967 103,502
Student services 44,412 21,494 65,906
Institutional support 97,842 11,489 109,331
Operation and maintenance of plant 32,787 40,347 73,134
Scholarships and fellowships 4,467 2,083 $42,786 49,336
Auxiliary enterprises 84,861 93,783 178,644
OSU Health System 478,133 459,615 937,748
OSU Physicians, Inc. 67,074 34,704 101,778
Depreciation $141,477 141,477

Total operating expenses $ 1,697,002 | $885,151 $42,786 $141,477 | $ 2,766,416

NOTE 13 — RETIREMENT PLANS

University employees are covered by one of three retirement systems. The university
faculty is covered by the State Teachers Retirement System of Ohio (STRS Ohio).
Substantially all other employees are covered by the Public Employees Retirement System
of Ohio (OPERS). Employees may opt out of STRS Ohio and OPERS and participate in
the Alternative Retirement Plan (ARP) if they meet certain eligibility requirements.

STRS Ohio and OPERS each offer three separate plans: 1) a defined benefit plan, 2) a
defined contribution plan and 3) a combined plan. Each of these three options is discussed
in greater detail in the following sections.

Defined Benefit Plans

STRS Ohio and OPERS offer statewide cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit
pension plans. STRS Ohio and OPERS provide retirement and disability benefits, annual
cost-of-living adjustments, and death benefits to plan members and beneficiaries. Benefits
are established by state statute and are calculated using formulas that include years of
service and final average salary as factors. Both STRS Ohio and OPERS issue separate,
publicly available financial reports that include financial statements and required
supplemental information. These reports may be obtained by contacting the two
organizations.

STRS Ohio Ohio PERS

275 East Broad Street 277 East Town Street
Columbus, OH 43215-3771 Columbus, OH 43215-4642
(614) 227-4090 (614) 466-2085

(888) 227-7877 (888) 400-0965
www.strsoh.org WWW.0pers.org
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In addition to the retirement benefits described above, STRS Ohio and OPERS provide
postemployment health care benefits.

OPERS currently provides postemployment health care benefits to retirees with ten or more
years of qualifying service credit. These benefits are advance-funded on an actuarially
determined basis and are financed through employer contributions and investment
earnings. OPERS determines the amount, if any, of the associated health care costs that
will be absorbed by OPERS. Under Ohio Revised Code (ORC), funding for medical costs
paid from the funds of OPERS is included in the employer contribution rate. For the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2004, OPERS allocated 4.0% of the employer contribution rate to
fund the health care program for retirees.

The actuarial value of assets available for these benefits at December 31, 2003 (the date of
the system’s latest actuarial review) was $10.5 billion. There were 369,885 active
contributing benefit recipients eligible for postemployment benefits as of December 31,
2004.

On September 9, 2004, the OPERS Retirement Board adopted a Health Care Preservation
Plan (HCPP) with an effective date of January 1, 2007. The HCPP restructures OPERS’
health care coverage to improve the financial solvency of the fund in response to
skyrocketing health care costs.

Under the HCPP, retirees eligible for health care coverage will receive a graded monthly
allocation based on their years of service at retirement. HCPP incorporates a cafeteria
approach, offering a broad range of health care options which allows benefit recipients to
use their monthly allocation to purchase health care coverage customized to meet their
individual needs. If the monthly allocation exceeds the cost of the options selected, the
excess is deposited into a Retiree Medical Account that can be used to fund future health
care expenses.

STRS Ohio currently provides access to health care coverage to retirees who participated in
the deferred benefit or combined plans and their dependents. Coverage under the current
program includes hospitalization, physicians’ fees, prescription drugs, and partial
reimbursement of monthly Medicare Part B premiums. Pursuant to ORC, STRS Ohio has
discretionary authority over how much, if any, of the associated health care costs will be
absorbed by STRS Ohio. All benefit recipients pay a portion of the health care cost in the
form of monthly premiums. Under ORC, medical costs paid from the funds of STRS Ohio
are included in the employer contribution rate. For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2004,
STRS Ohio allocated employer contributions equal to 1.0% of covered payroll to a Health
Care Stabilization Fund (HCSF) from which payments for health care benefits are paid. The
balance in the HCSF was $3.1 billion at June 30, 2004.

STRS Ohio expenditures for postemployment benefits during the year ended June 30, 2004

were $268.7 million. There were 111,853 benefit recipients eligible for postemployment
benefits at that date.
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Postemployment health care benefits are not guaranteed by ORC to be covered under
either OPERS or STRS Ohio defined benefit plans.

Defined Contribution Plans

ARP is a defined contribution pension plan. Full-time administrative and professional staff
and faculty may choose enrollment in ARP in lieu of OPERS or STRS Ohio. Classified civil
service employees are not eligible to participate in ARP. ARP does not provide disability
benefits, annual cost-of-living adjustments, postretirement health care benefits or death
benefits to plan members and beneficiaries. Benefits are entirely dependent on the sum of
contributions and investment returns earned by each participant’s choice of investment
options.

OPERS also offers a defined contribution plan, the Member-Directed Plan (MD). The MD
plan does not provide disability benefits, annual cost-of-living adjustments, postretirement
health care benefits or death benefits to plan members and beneficiaries. Benefits are
entirely dependent on the sum of contributions and investment returns earned by each
participant’s choice of investment options.

STRS Ohio also offers a defined contribution plan in addition to its long established defined
benefit plan. All employee contributions and employer contributions at a rate of 10.5% are
placed in an investment account directed by the employee. Disability benefits are limited to
the employee’s account balance. Employees electing the defined contribution plan receive
no postretirement health care benefits.

Combined Plans

STRS Onhio offers a combined plan with features of both a defined contribution plan and a
defined benefit plan. In the combined plan, employee contributions are invested in self
directed investments, and the employer contribution is used to fund a reduced defined
benefit. Employees electing the combined plan receive postretirement health care benefits.

OPERS also offers a combined plan. This is a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined
benefit plan that has elements of both a defined benefit and defined contribution plan. In the
combined plan, employee contributions are invested in self directed investments, and the
employer contribution is used to fund a reduced defined benefit. Employees electing the
combined plan receive postretirement health care benefits. OPERS provides retirement,
disability, survivor and postretirement health benefits to qualifying members of the combined
plan.

Funding Policy

ORC provides STRS Ohio and OPERS statutory authority to set employee and employer
contributions.  Contributions equal to those required by STRS Ohio and OPERS are
required for ARP. For employees enrolling in ARP, ORC requires a portion (which may be
revised pursuant to periodic actuarial studies) of the employer contribution be contributed to
STRS Ohio and OPERS to enhance the stability of these plans. The required contribution
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rates (as a percentage of covered payroll) for plan members and the university are as
follows:

STRS Ohio OPERS ARP

Faculty:

Plan member 10.0% 10.0%

University 14.0% 14.0%*
Staff:

Plan member 8.5% 8.5%

University 13.31% 13.31%
Law enforcement staff:

Plan member 10.1% 10.1%

University 16.7% 16.7%

* Employer contributions include 3.5% paid to STRS Ohio.
The remaining amount, 10.5%, is credited to employee’s ARP account.

The university’s contributions, which represent 100% of required employer contributions, for
the year ended June 30, 2005 and for each of the two preceding years are as follows:

Year STRS Ohio OPERS ARP
Ended Annual Required  Annual Required  Annual Required
June 30, Contribution Contribution Contribution
2003 $ 37,345 $ 76,408 $ 21,836
2004 $ 38,155 $ 82,927 $ 23,337
2005 $ 40,597 $91,424 $ 27,004

OSU Physicians Retirement Plan

Retirement benefits are provided for the employees of OSU Physicians (OSUP) through a
tax-sheltered 403(b) and 401(a) program administered by an insurance company. OSUP is
required to make nondiscretionary contributions of no less than 7.5% under the Interim
Retirement Plan; however, some subsidiaries make an additional discretionary contribution
of up to 17.5%, for a range of total employer contributions of 7.5% to 25%. Employees are
allowed, but not required, to make contributions to the 403(b) plan. OSUP’s share of the
cost of these benefits was $9,943 for the year ended June 30, 2005.

NOTE 14 — CAPITAL PROJECT COMMITMENTS

At June 30, 2005, the university is committed to future contractual obligations for capital
expenditures of approximately $209,674.
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These projects are funded by the following sources:

State appropriations $110,161
Internal and other sources 99,513
Total $209,674

NOTE 15 — CONTINGENCIES AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The university is a party in a number of legal actions. While the final outcome cannot be
determined at this time, management is of the opinion that the liability, if any, for these legal
actions will not have a material adverse effect on the university's financial position.

The University is self-insured for Hospitals professional malpractice liability, employee
health benefits, and employee life, accidental death and dismemberment benefits.
Additional details regarding these self-insurance arrangements are provided in Note 5. The
University also carries commercial insurance policies for various property, casualty and
excess liability risks. Over the past three years, settlement amounts related to these
insured risks have not exceeded the University’s coverage amounts.

Under the terms of federal grants, periodic audits are required and certain costs may be
questioned as not being appropriate expenditures under the terms of the grants. Such
audits could lead to reimbursements to the grantor agencies. While questioned costs may
occur, ultimate repayments required of the university have been infrequent in prior years.

NOTE 16 — FUNDS HELD IN TRUST BY OTHERS

The university is the beneficiary of and annually receives income from funds held in trust by
other trustees. These funds are administered by outside trustees and are neither in the
possession nor under the control of the university. The principal amount of these funds is
not determinable at the present time.

NOTE 17 — SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The Ohio State University issued $279,050 in General Receipts Bonds, Series 2005A and
$129,980 in Variable Rate Demand General Receipts Bonds, Series 2005B on August 10,
2005. The proceeds of these bond issues will be used for the following purposes: 1) to
retire $150,000 of Series F Commercial Paper notes, 2) to refund and retire $55,670 of
General Receipts Bond Series 1999A, and 3) to construct and/or renovate a variety of
projects including residence halls, administrative and classroom buildings, parking garages,
utility and student services.  Both Series A and B Bonds will have annual principal
repayments until final maturity on June 1, 2035.
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Deloitte.

155 East Broad Street
Columbus, OH 43215-3611
USA

Tel: +1 614 221 1000
Fax: +1 614 229 4647
www.deloitte.com

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL
REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF
'FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT
AUDITING STANDARDS

To the Board of Trustees of
The Ohio State University
Columbus, Ohio

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of The Ohio State University (the “University™), as
of and for the year ended June 30, 2005, and have issued our report thereon dated October 19, 2005. We
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Governmental Auditing Standards,
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States.

Iinternal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit, we considered the University’s internal control over financial
reporting in order to determine our auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the
financial statements and not to provide assurance on the internal control over financial reporting. Our
consideration of the internal control over financial reporting would not necessarily disclose all matters in
the internal control over financial reporting that might be material weaknesses. A material weakness is a
reportable condition in which the design or operation of one or more of the internal control components
does not reduce to a relatively low level the risk that misstatements caused by error or fraud in amounts
that would be material in relation to the financial statements being audited may occur and not be detected
within a timely period by employees in the normal course of performing their assigned functions. We
noted no matters involving the internal control over financial reporting and its operation that we consider
to be material weaknesses.

Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the University’s financial statements are free of
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations,
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the
determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those
provisions was not an objective of our audit and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The
results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be
reported under Government Auditing Standards.

We noted certain matters that we have reported to management of the University in a separate letter dated
October 19, 2005.

46 The Ohio State University

Member of
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu



This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Board of Trustees, management of the
University, federal awarding agencies, state funding agencies, pass-through entities, and the Auditor of
the State of Ohio and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified
parties. :

1@/0;-7% +(%W LLP

October 19, 2005
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THE OHIO STATE UNIVERSITY

NOTES TO SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2005

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation—The accompanying financial schedules include the accounts of the following
entities:

The Ohio State University (the “University”) and its hospitals and clinics;
The Ohio State University Foundation, a not-for-profit organization operating exclusively for the
benefit of the University;

Two separate statutory entities for which the University has special responsibility
e The Ohio Agricultural Research and Development Center
e The Ohio Supercomputer Center

Twelve legally independent corporations engaged in activities related to the University
¢ The Ohio State University Research Foundation (the “Research Foundation™)

The Ohio State University Student Loan Foundation, Inc.

Transportation Research Center of Ohio, Inc.

Campus Partners for Community Urban Redevelopment, Inc.

University Affiliates, Inc.

Reading Recovery and Early Literacy, Inc.

Ohio State University Retirees Association

OSU Managed Health Care Systems, Inc.

The Ohio State University Physicians, Inc.

UMC Partners

Prologue Research International, Inc.

Oval Limited

Such financial schedules have been prepared on the accrual basis in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America for state-assisted colleges and universities.

Subrecipient—Certain funds are passed-through to subgrantee organizations by the University.
Expenditures incurred by the subgrantees and reimbursed by the University are presented in the schedule
of expenditures of federal awards.

The University is also the subrecipient of federal funds which have been reported as expenditures and
listed as federal pass-through funds.

2. NONCASH FEDERAL AWARDS

During the year ended June 30, 2005, the University did not receive nonmonetary assistance.
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3. FEDERAL LOAN PROGRAMS ADMINISTERED

Total loan advances and disbursements for federal student financial assistance programs are identified

below:
Year Ended
June 30, 2005
Perkins Loan Program $ 5,677,986
Health Professions Student Loans (“HPSL”) 4,918,651
Nursing Student Loans (“NSL”) 551,017
Total $11.147.654

The above expenditures include disbursements and expenditures such as loans to students and
administrative expenditures. During the year ended June 30, 2005, the University disbursed
$245,889,807 in new loans under the William D. Ford Direct Loan Program (which includes Stafford
Loans and Parents Loans for Undergraduate Students).

4. REIMBURSEMENT OF FACILITIES AND ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS

U.S. Office of Management and Budget (“OMB”) Circular A-21 (“A-217), Costs Principles for
Educational Institutions, requires submission of a Certificate of Facilities and Administrative Costs (the
“Certificate”) to an institution’s cognizant agency. The Certificate is prepared by the University and is
used in negotiations with its cognizant agency, the Department of Health and Human Services
(“DHHS”), in determining a rate at which the University and the Research Foundation will be
reimbursed for the facilities and administrative costs associated with the completion of sponsored
research.

The Research Foundation receives reimbursement of facilities and administrative costs as part of the
granting agreement at either the rate negotiated with DHHS or at special rates negotiated with the
granting agency. Facilities and administrative costs recovered by the Research Foundation are remitted
to the University.

On July 31, 2003, DHHS approved facilities and administrative cost recovery rates effective from
July 1, 2003 through June 30, 2006. The facilities and administrative cost rate structure, including the
rates submitted within the Certificate, are as follows:

Submitted
Within Negotiated

Rate Type Certificate Rate
Organized Research:

On-Campus— 49.4 % 49.5 %

Off-Campus 26.0 26.0
Instruction:

On-Campus— 52.5 49.5

Off-Campus 26.0 26.0
Other Sponsored Activities:

On-Campus— 22.5 33.0

Off-Campus— 15.0 24.0
General Clinical Research Center—

On-Campus 234 20.0
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Differences between the rates submitted in the Certificate and the rates negotiated with DHHS result
from DHHS’s review of the underlying support and assumptions used by the University in the
preparation of the Certificate. Despite DHHS’s approval, negotiated rates could be adjusted
retroactively, and reimbursement to granting agencies could be required if costs identified as
unallowable per A-21 were improperly included in amounts included in the Certificate.

* ok k ok k %k
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL
REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT
AUDITING STANDARDS

To the Board of Trustees of
The Ohio State University
Columbus, Ohio

We have audited the financial statements of The Ohio State University (the “University”) as of and for the
year ended June 30, 2005, and have issued our report thereon dated October 19, 2005. We conducted our
audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit, we considered the University’s internal control over financial
reporting in order to determine our auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the
financial statements and not to provide an opinion on the internal control over financial reporting. Our
consideration of the internal control over financial reporting would not necessarily disclose all matters in
the internal control over financial reporting that might be material weaknesses. A material weakness is a
reportable condition in which the design or operation of one or more of the internal control components
does not reduce to a relatively low level the risk that misstatements caused by error or fraud in amounts
that would be material in relation to the financial statements being audited may occur and not be detected
within a timely period by employees in the normal course of performing their assigned functions. We
noted no matters involving the internal control over financial reporting and its operation that we consider
to be material weaknesses.

Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the University’s financial statements are free of
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations,
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the
determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those
provisions was not an objective of our audit and, accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The
results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be
reported under Government Auditing Standards.

We noted certain matters that we reported to management of the University in a separate letter dated
October 19, 2005. ‘

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Board of Trustees and management of the
University, federal awarding agencies, state funding agencies, pass-through entities, and the Auditor of
State of Ohio and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified
parties.

(@M#M P |

October 19, 2005
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON COMPLIANCE WITH REQUIREMENTS
APPLICABLE TO EACH MAJOR FEDERAL AWARD PROGRAM AND ON INTERNAL
CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE IN ACCORDANCE WITH OMB CIRCULAR A-133

To the Board of Trustees of
The Ohio State University
Columbus, Ohio

Compliance

We have audited the compliance of The Ohio State University (the “University”) with the types of
compliance requirements described in the U.S. Office of Management and Budget (“OMB”) Circular
A-133 Compliance Supplement that are applicable to each of its major federal programs for the year
ended June 30, 2005. The University’s major federal programs are identified in the summary of auditors’
results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. Compliance with the
requirements of laws, regulations, contracts, and grants applicable to each of its major federal programs is
the responsibility of the University’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
University’s compliance based on our audit.

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and OMB Circular A-133, Audits of
States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations. Those standards and OMB Circular A-133
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance
with the types of compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect
on a major federal program occurred. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about the
University’s compliance with those requirements and performing such other procedures, as we considered
necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. Our
audit does not provide a legal determination on the University’s compliance with those requirements.

In our opinion, the University complied, in all material respects, with the requirements referred to above
that are applicable to each of its major federal programs for the year ended June 30, 2005. However, the
results of our auditing procedures disclosed instances of noncompliance with those requirements that are
required to be reported in accordance with OMB Circular A-133 and which are described in the
accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs as items 05-1, 05-2, 05-3, and 05-4.

Internal Control Over Compliance

The management of the University is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal
control over compliance with requirements of laws, regulations, contracts, and grants applicable to federal
programs. In planning and performing our audit, we considered the University’s internal control over
compliance with requirements that could have a direct and material effect on a major federal program in
order to determine our auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing our opinion on compliance and
to test and report on the internal control over compliance in accordance with OMB Circular A-133.

Member of
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu



Our consideration of the internal control over compliance would not necessarily disclose all matters in the
internal control that might be material weaknesses. A material weakness is a condition in which the
design or operation of one or more of the internal control components does not reduce to a relatively low
level the risk that noncompliance with applicable requirements of laws, regulations, contracts, and grants
caused by error or fraud that would be material in relation to a major federal program being audited may
occur and not be detected within a timely period by employees in the normal course of performing their
assigned functions. We noted no matters involving the internal control over compliance and its operation
that we consider to be material weaknesses.

Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards

We have audited the financial statements of the University as of and for the year ended June 30, 2005,
and have issued our report thereon dated October 19, 2005. Our audit was performed for the purpose of
forming an opinion on the financial statements taken as a whole. The accompanying schedule of
expenditures of federal awards is presented for the purpose of additional analysis as required by OMB
Circular A-133 and is not a required part of the financial statements. This schedule is the responsibility of
the management of the University. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures
applied in our audit of the financial statements and, in our opinion, is fairly stated, in all material respects,
when considered in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Board of Trustees and management of the
University, federal awarding agencies, state funding agencies, pass-through entities, and the Auditor of
State of Ohio and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified
parties.

L) o+ owalocco

October 19, 2005
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THE OHIO STATE UNIVERSITY

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2005

PART | - SUMMARY OF AUDITORS’ RESULTS
1. The independent auditors’ report on the financial statements expressed an unqualified opinion.
2. No reportable conditions in internal control over financial reporting were identified.

3. No instances of noncompliance considered material to the financial statements were disclosed by the
audit.

4. No reportable conditions in internal control over compliance with requirements applicable to major
federal award programs were identified.

5. The independent auditors’ report on compliance with requirements applicable to major federal award
programs expressed an unqualified opinion.

6. The audit disclosed findings required to be reported by Office of management and Budget (“OMB”)
Circular A-133.

7. The major programs were the Research and Development Cluster and DOE—Miscellaneous Federal
Assistance Actions (The Ohio Supercomputer Center) CFDA # 81.502, which are included in the
schedule of expenditures of federal awards.

8. A threshold of $3,000,000 was used to distinguish between Type A and Type B programs as those terms
are defined in OMB Circular A-133.

9. The Ohio State University (the “University”) did not qualify as a low risk auditee as that term is defined
in OMB Circular A-133.

PART Il - FINANCIAL STATEMENT FINDINGS SECTION

No matters are reportable.
PART Il - FEDERAL AWARD FINDING AND QUESTIONED COST SECTION
05-1: Disclosure of CFDA information to Subrecipient

Grantor—Direct funding from National Science Foundation CFDA #47.070 and Department of Health and
Human Services CFDA #93.262

Sponsor Identification Number—35000000 and 66000001
Project Number—T745942, Master Project Number (“MPN”) GRT962114 and 743883, MPN GRT960769

Criteria—OMB Circular A-133, Subpart D § 400 (d)(1), requires that “a pass-through entity [Research
Foundation] shall identify Federal awards made by informing each subrecipient of CFDA title and number,
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award name and number, award year, if the award is R&D, and name of Federal agency . . . to describe the
Federal award.”

Finding—During the review of subrecipient subcontracts in the current fiscal year, we noted that The Ohio
University Research Foundation (the “Research Foundation™) did not disclose the available CFDA title and
number or the correct CFDA title and number to the subrecipients.

Effect—If CFDA title and number are not promptly provided to the subrecipients, the Federal award
requirements may not be properly executed.

Recommendation—W e recommend the Research Foundation disclose CFDA title and number to the
subrecipient by including the accurate information in the subcontract agreement.

Research Foundation Response—The Research Foundation has recently converted the subaward
document from a free form text document to a form that requires fields to be completed.

05-2: Duplicate of Expense Reimbursements and Submission of Non-allowable Expenditures
Grantor—Department of Health and Human Services

Sponsor Identification Number—Direct funding from 64000004 under CFDA #93.855; direct funding from
64000002 under CFDA #93.393; and pass-through funding from 64000004 with pass-through ID #22000088

Project Number—741449, MPN GRT869159 and 741435, MPN GRT869148

Criteria—OMB Circular A-110, requires that “for financial audits, including audits of financial

statements. ..auditors should report...(1) deficiencies in internal control considered to be reportable conditions
as defined in American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“AICPA™) standards, (2) all instances of
fraud and illegal acts unless clearly inconsequential, and (3) significant violations of provisions of contracts or
grant agreements and abuse. In some circumstances, auditors should report fraud, illegal acts, violations of
provisions of contracts or grant agreements, and abuse directly to parties external to the audited entity.”

Finding—During Internal Audit’s (“IA”) review of the University’s (including the Research Foundation and
the Hospital) Procurement Cards (“P-Cards”), several issues were denoted that limited the effectiveness of the
controls. The largest issue, based on discussions with the department by IA, was that the person who was the
main control checkpoint did not question costs as they were presented. The issues varied including improper
documentation and improper charges submitted.

During the investigation it was discovered that a principal investigator (“PI”) was charging travel expense to
independent organizations, while also submitting invoices for travel reimbursement to the University. As a
result, the P has been inappropriately reimbursed $553.54 for travel expenses from the Research Foundation.
Upon discovery, the Research Foundation removed the expenses from the research programs and transferred
the expenses to the College of Dentistry. The case has been forwarded to the Franklin Country Prosecutor and
is currently pending action. If a formal charge is filed, the Research Foundation will notify the applicable
federal programs in which the individual was involved.

Additionally, upon review by Internal Audit, $35,767.53 of expenses were deemed not directly related to the
PI’s research. These charges were also transferred from the sponsored projects to the College of Dentistry.
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Effect—If formal policies, procedures, and controls are not put in place over the usage of the P-Cards, the
University will become vulnerable to misuse of the cards and occurrences of fraud. The Federal expenditure
could also become misstated.

Questioned Cost—The University’s Internal Audit division identified $35,767.53 improperly charged to grant
funds.

Recommendation—We recommend all departments within the University (including the Research
Foundation and the Hospital) institute formal policies and controls over the usage of the P-Cards. Policies
should be structured specifically for each department, based on number of cards issued and actual usage of the
cards. This will ensure that the University and departments have knowledge of the expenses running through
the P-Cards and prevent double-booking expenses, as well as preventing fraud.

In addition, we recommend the entity have mandatory training on awareness of fraud and financial
responsibility to PIs/Department Deans/Chairs. This is critical to mitigate specific fraud risks and avoid
inappropriate expenditures.

Research Foundation Response—These procedures need to be instituted at the University level. The
Research Foundation will explore training development with the appropriate University officials.

05-3: Suspension and Debarment

Grantor— DOE—Miscellaneous Federal Assistance Actions (The Ohio Supercomputer Center) CFDA #
81.502

Project Number—N/A

Criteria—The A-133 Compliance Supplement Part 3, Compliance Requirements, Procurement and
Suspension and Debarment, states that:

“Non-Federal entities are prohibited from contracting with or making subawards under covered
transactions to parties that are suspended or debarred or whose principals are suspended or debarred.
Under rules in effect prior to November 26, 2003, covered transactions included procurement
contracts for goods or services equal to or in excess of $100,000. A change in the nonprocurement
suspension and debarment rule took effect on November 26, 2003. As of that date only those
procurement contracts for goods and services awarded under a nonprocurement transaction (e.g.,
grant or cooperative agreement) that are expected to equal or exceed $25,000 or meet certain other
specified criteria are considered “covered transactions.” §__.220 of the government-wide
nonprocurement debarment and suspension common rule contains those additional limited
circumstances. All nonprocurement transactions (i.e., subawards to subrecipients) are considered
covered transactions—this was the case before November 26, 2003, and was not changed by the
revised rules.

Under rules in effect prior to November 26, 2003, contractors receiving individual awards for
$100,000 or more and all subrecipients must certify that the organization and its principals are not
suspended or debarred. Effective November 26, 2003, when a non-federal entity enters into a
covered transaction with an entity at a lower tier, the non-federal entity must verify that the entity is
not suspended or debarred or otherwise excluded. This verification may be accomplished by
checking the Excluded Parties List System (EPLS) maintained by the General Services
Administration (GSA), collecting a certification from the entity, or adding a clause or condition to the
covered transaction with that entity (§__.300). The information contained in the EPLS is available in
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printed and electronic formats. The printed version is published monthly. Copies may be obtained by
purchasing a yearly subscription from the Superintendent of Documents, U.S. Government Printing
Office, Washington, DC 20402, or by calling the Government Printing Office Inquiry and Order Desk
at (202) 783-3238. The electronic version can be accessed on the Internet (http://epls.arnet.gov).

Finding—The Ohio Supercomputer Center (OSC) was not aware of this compliance requirement. There
were no procedures in place to make sure that OSC was not working with vendors who have been placed on
the Federal Suspension and Debarment list.

Effect—The OSC program could be using Federal money to purchase goods and services from vendors on the
Excluded Parties List.

Recommendation—The OSC program should verify that all vendors from whom they purchase goods and
services are not on the Excluded Parties List.

University Response—The University will refer to the government web site in each instance before a
purchase is made. All those at the Ohio Supercomputer Center, Springfield, who are responsible for making
purchases are obligated to reference the electronic version at http://epls.arnet.gov. A statement will be
required on each “green sheet”, OSC’s internal procurement authorization form, stating that this site has been
referenced regarding the proposed purchase and that no purchase will be initiated if the vendor is on the
Excluded Parties List.

05-4: Cash Management

Grantor— DOE—Miscellaneous Federal Assistance Actions (The Ohio Supercomputer Center) CFDA #

81.502
Project Number—N/A

Criteria—The OMB Circular A-133 Compliance Supplement requires that interest earned on advances by
local government grantees and subgrantees is required to be submitted promptly, but at least quarterly, to the
Federal agency. Up to $100 per year may be kept for administrative expenses.

Finding—The Ohio Supercomputer Center (OSC) received funding in advance of allowable expenditures.

This advance was deposited into the University’s main cash account on which the University earns interest.
However, the University did not allocate any interest to the Ohio Supercomputer Center. Interest earned is
estimated as $85,680.

Effect—No interest was allocated to the program to either be returned to the Federal government or applied
back to the OCS program.

Questioned Cost—There was approximately $85,680 of unallocated interest to federal programs identified.

Recommendation—The University should allocate the interest earned on balances held by the University
back to the programs that receive advances of Federal funds. These programs, in turn, should either remit this
amount back to the grantor agency or report this amount as a reduction in Federal funding.

University Response—The Ohio Supercomputer Center has conferred with the University’s Division of
Accounting concerning establishing the DOE fund as an interest bearing account. Accounting will also
confer with Resource Planning and the University’s Treasurer’s Office concerning the calculation of past
interest earnings. They will determine the actual interest earned over the 12 month period in question, based
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upon the University’s actual interest earnings. Further, we have been in contact with our DOE representative
in New Mexico to determine the appropriate mechanism for returning the interest earnings to DOE. Once the
Division of Accounting has confirmed the interest amount, we will contact DOE to determine the method to
be used to return these funds. The DOE fund will also earn interest on the current $6 million allocation for
fiscal year 2006.
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PART IV - SUMMARY SCHEDULE OF PRIOR AUDIT FINDINGS

improper documentation and charges submitted.
During the investigation it was discovered that
the principal investigator for the Research
Foundation was charging travel expenses to the
University’s P-card, while also fraudulently
submitting invoices for travel reimbursement to
the Research Foundation. As a result, the PI had

been inappropriately reimbursed $4,436.34. Upon

discovery, the Research Foundation removed the
expenses from the programs, despite the fact that
they may have been valid expenditures. As
required, the Research Foundation notified the
applicable Federal programs in which the
individual was involved.

Number Finding Status Contact

04-1 Four out of five assets tested for internal project |Corrected Jeffrey H.
number (IP#) did not have tags physically Kemper,
attached. In addition, the equipment’s location Director of
was not accurately reflected in the fixed asset Financial
management system. Services and

Procurement

04-2 During IA’s review of the University’s P-Cards, |Uncorrected, [Jeffrey H.
several issues were denoted that limited the see FY 2005 |Kemper,
effectiveness of the controls. IA discovered that |finding at Part |Director of
the individual responsible for reviewing 1 05-2 Financial
reimbursements did not question costs as they Services and
were presented. The issues varied including Procurement
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Application of Agreed-Upon Procedures to
Statements and Records of Booster
Organizations’ Expenditures for or on Behalf
of the University’s Department of Athletics for
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INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS’ REPORT ON THE APPLICATION OF AGREED-UPON
PROCEDURES TO STATEMENTS AND RECORDS OF BOOSTER ORGANIZATIONS’
EXPENDITURES FOR OR ON BEHALF OF THE UNIVERSITY'S DEPARTMENT OF
ATHLETICS

Dr. Karen Holbrook
President

The Ohio State University
Columbus, Ohio

We have performed the procedures below, which were agreed to by the administration of The Ohio State
University (the “University”), with respect to the accounting records of the University and the related
booster organizations, referred to below, in connection with activities of the Department of Athletics of
the University. This agreed-upon procedures engagement was conducted in accordance with attestation
standards established by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The sufficiency of these
procedures is solely the responsibility of those parties specified in this report. Consequently, we make no
representation regarding the sufficiency of the procedures described below either for the purpose for
which this report has been requested or for any other purpose. The procedures that we performed and our
findings are as follows:

a. We obtained a list of booster organizations and a schedule of receipts/revenues and
disbursements/expenses (the “Schedule™) for the year ended June 30, 2005 from the Director of
Athletics. The Schedule is included as the Exhibit to this report.

b.  We agreed total revenues and expenditures or total cash receipts and cash disbursements of all
booster organizations for the year ended June 30, 2005 listed on the Schedule with amounts obtained
from the official responsible for each respective booster organization.

c.  We received a representation letter signed by the Director of Athletics and all of the head coaches
that the booster organizations, as listed in the Exhibit, are the only booster organizations that support
the Department of Athletics as defined in the National Collegiate Athletic Association (“NCAA”)
Financial Audit Guidelines dated September 2004.

d. We obtained a summary of contributions to or in behalf of the Department of Athletics from the
booster organizations and compared such summary to the revenues recorded in the University’s
accounting records. The in-kind contributions and donated goods or services were not recorded in
the University’s accounting records. We also noted that contributions reported by the booster groups
were credited to these groups in The Ohio State University Development Fund’s records.

Member of
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We were not engaged to perform an audit, the objective of which would be the expression of an opinion
on the accounts of the booster organizations or items referred to above. Accordingly, we do not express
such an opinion. Had we been engaged to perform additional procedures, other matters might have come
to our attention that would have been reported to you. Nor, were we engaged to perform an examination,
the objectives of which would be the expression of an opinion on management’s assertions about the
effectiveness of the internal control structure over financial reporting. Accordingly, we do not express
such an opinion. Had we been engaged to perform additional procedures, other matters might have come
to our attention that would have been reported to you.

This report is intended solely for the use of members of the audit committee, administration of the
University, or an authorized representative of the NCAA, and is not intended to be and should not be used
by anyone other than these specified parties.

Detoata_ t Towd Lep

January 25, 2006



THE OHIO STATE UNIVERSITY Exhibit
DEPARTMENT OF ATHLETICS

OUTSIDE ORGANIZATIONS ACTING IN BEHALF OF THE DEPARTMENT OF
ATHLETICS RECEIPTS/REVENUES AND DISBURSEMENTS/EXPENSES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2005

Organizations reporting on a cash receipts and disbursements basis for the year ended June 30, 2005 are as
follows:

Cash Disbursements
Contributions

Beginning ToorIn Ending

Cash Cash Behalf of Cash
Organization Balance Receipts Program Other Balance
Varsity “O” Women $ 48,628 $ 14,987 $ - $ 13,279 $50,336
The Buckeye Diamond Club 489,435 623,186 987,738 100,296 24,587
The Buckeye Sideliners 2,517 26,181 12,500 14,589 1,609
The Rebounders Club 7,949 46,423 6,000 43,540 4,832

The Ohio State Men’s
Swimming and Diving
Booster Club 6,516 7,219 6,406 7,329

Organizations reporting revenues and expenditures for the year ended June 30, 2005 are as follows:

Expenditures
Contributions

Toorlin

Behalf of Net Income
Organization Revenues Program Other (Loss)
Buckeye Boosters, Inc. $ 196,713 $ 18,600 $ 83,854 $ 94,259
The Varsity “O” Alumni 124,806 3,660 102,189 18,957
Center Ice Club 16,554 13,824 3,398 (668)
OSU Varsity Rifle Team

Booster Club 4,940 557 4,383
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October 19, 2005

Members of the Board of The Ohio State University Hospital,
Members of the Board of the Arthur G. James Cancer Hospital,
Members of the Board of the Richard J. Solove Research Institute
and the Richard M. Ross Heart Hospital

Columbus, Ohio

Dear Members of the Board:

In planning and performing our audit of thetrial balances of The Ohio State University Hospital, Richard
M. Ross Heart Hospital, University Hospital East, OSU Harding Hospital, the Primary Care Network, and
the Arthur G. James Cancer Hospital and Richard J. Solove Research Institute (collectively the “ Health
System”) for the year ended June 30, 2005, we considered its internal control in order to determine our
auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the financial statements of The Ohio State
University (on which we have issued a report dated October 19, 2005) and not to provide assurance on the
Health System’ s internal control. We did note matters related to the Health Systen’ s internal control and
certain other accounting, administrative, or operating matters. Our principal observations and
recommendations are summarized within the following pages.

Thisreport is intended soldy for the information and use of the Boards of the Health System and The Ohio
State University management, and others within the organization and is not intended to be and should not
be used by anyone other than these specified parties.

We will be pleased to discuss these comments with you and, if desired, to assist you in implementing any of
the suggestions.

Yourstruly,

L&@éfﬁ o Towsde otP



FINANCIAL OBSERVATIONS

Affiliated Organizations

Observation

The Ohio State University (“OSU” or the “University”) has, over time, entered into numerous affiliated
organization relationships with various entities. Thereis no written formalized centralized policy related to
how these affiliated organizations are to be structured, approved, accounted for, or monitored.

We understand that Board of Trustees for the University has historically had an OSU Affiliates, Inc. and
Affiliated Entities Committee to review issues associated with affiliated organizations. Additionally, during
fiscal year 2005, the University has organized an internal committee, the Affiliated Organization
Committee, comprising the President of the University, the Senior Vice President for Business and Finance,
the Vice President - General Counsd and the Provost to centrally monitor these organizations.

Recommendation

We recommend an active formal policy be established that outlines how new potential affiliated
organizations are to be evaluated by the University. This policy may include specifications related to what
levels of authority should approve new Affiliated Organizations within the University and how these
organizations should be evaluated from a legal, operational, and accounting perspective. Additionally, we
recommend that each affiliated organization be centrally monitored relative to whether it should be
consolidated into the University’ s financial statements. Once a conclusion is reached that the Affiliated
Organizations should not be consolidated, if applicable, a written process should be established outlining
the process for periodic (not less than annually) reassessment of this conclusion. This reassessment process
would include assessment of any change in relationship between the University and the Affiliated
Organization. To facilitate this process a centralized location should be assigned accountability for
obtaining and updating all documents between the University and Affiliated Organizations. If an Affiliated
Organization is determined that it should be consolidated into the University financial statements, an
agreement should be formalized with the applicable organization which outlines the reporting relationship
between the Affiliated Organization and the University. This formalized centralized monitoring would also
assist in monitoring the overall consolidated operations of the University.

M anagement Response

The Ohio State University Board of Trustees established a formal policy on review and evaluation of
affiliated entities in 1998. This included the establishment of the Affiliated Entities Committee of the
Board. Although this committee was not active last fiscal year, it has since been reactivated and will meet
quarterly to assure compliance with University policies. Thefirst meeting was held on August 24, 2005.

In addition, financial performance of affiliated entities is monitored by the Office of Business and Finance
and has been incorporated into the quarterly financial reports provided to the Fiscal Affairs Committee of
the OSU Board of Trustees since autumn 2004.

Finally, on August 3, 2005, the President’s Cabinet approved establishment of an affiliated entities working

group consisting of the Executive Vice President and Provost, the Senior Vice President for Business and
Finance, and the Vice President for Legal Affairsto review affiliated entities and prepare for the Affiliated
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Entities Committee. As part of this effort, the Office of Legal Affairs has assumed responsibility as the
centralized location for all documents. The Office of the Controller has assumed responsibility for
determining whether or not affiliated entities should be consolidated into the University’s financial
Statements.

We bdlieve these actions provide an effective framework for reviewing and evaluating affiliated entities.

Policy Regarding Documentation of Transfers Between The OSU Health System, Ohio
State University Physicians, Inc. and OSU College of Medicine and Public Health and
Office of Health Sciences (Prior Year Comment)

Observation

Thereis no formal policy regarding the transactional processing of financial commitments or cash transfers
between the Health System, Ohio State University Physicians, Inc. and the OSU College of Medicine and
Public Health and Office of Health Sciences. During our testing we noted instances of underlying
documentation that did not have adequate supporting documentation and transactions that were not
approved at an appropriate level separate from the individual initiating the transaction.

Recommendation

We recommend that the University develop aformal policy related to transactions between the Health
System, The Ohio State University College of Medicine (the “ College of Medicineg’) and Public Health, and
Office of Health Sciences, and Ohio State University Physicians, Inc., specifying appropriate transactional
support in writing, with appropriate approvals, and timely communication with the respective Finance
department of all transactions. This should occur before the actual commitment is made. Adoption of this
policy will assist in providing timely and accurate financial statements upon which to make future business
decisions based on both historical financial performance and future cash flow commitments.

M anagement Response

The Health System and the College of Medicine have focused on the management of Medical Center
Investments. All Health System transfers are now being reviewed and approved monthly by the Medical
Center CFO and the business unit prior to the transfer taking place. The reease of funds, accounting, and
the control of transactions is performed centrally in Health System Finance. A single tracking mechanismis
now being implemented to facilitate tracking of funds flow from multiple business units to multiple college
departments. Medical Center Investments are now generally accounted for on a cash basis. This limits the
possibility of inconsistent accounting treatment across University departments and increases the ability to
manage the timing of cash transfers. Efforts have been made to insure that any accruals remaining on the
Health System financial statements at June 30, 2005, relate to fiscal year 2005 activities. These accruals
were identified to University personnd and were diminated as a part of the audit process. Signed
agreements, Business Plans, Offers Letters, and other documentation are generally accumulated in the
Finance department or in locations accessible by appropriate personnd. It is our intent to complete a full
inventory of onsite documentation prior to the end of the current fiscal year.

The OSU Medical Center investment budget for 2006 is explicitly related to the specific Business Plans,
Letters of Recruitment, and other strategic initiatives. We believe this more rigorous planning process has
provided the structure to manage the scope, timing, and expectations surrounding Medical Center
Investments. We have also implemented several mechanisms to manage transactional processing and



control over these investments. We will continue to enhance our documentation and authorization processes
over the coming year in the continued effort to safeguard our assets.

Medical Center Business Plans (Prior Year Comment)

Observation

The Ohio State University College of Medicine and Public Health and Office of Health Sciences, The OSU
Health System, and Ohio State University, Physicians, Inc. are collectively referred to as the OSU Medical
Center. We understand that as part of the Medical Center Executive Committee (“MCEC”) programmatic

business plan review process, beginning in fiscal 2004, each proposed plan regarding an investment greater
than $500,000 is reviewed and approved by MCEC.

The business plan includes the projected cost of recruiting and/or retaining medical-related talent to the
University as well as the associated cost of the individual’s team member and related space. The business
plan also includes estimated related research, clinical, and Health System revenue.

We understand that during fiscal 2005, significant changes were implemented related to the business plan
process. This included a policy whereby a business plan is required to demonstrate its added value to OSU
Medical Center’s strategic objectives as well as its fiscal soundness. Secondly, a business plan has a series
of reviews before being approved, including reviews by the Integrative Planning Committee, the Medical
Center Agenda Committee, and the MCEC. Thirdly, each business plan is required to have a set of
financial analysis that includes the evaluation of the expenses, investments, and financial returns using the
present value approach. In the case when the business plan involves a major recruitment component, the
Chief Administrative Officer of the College of Medicineis responsible for ensuring the terms and
conditions of the offer Ietter are in agreement with the business plan stipulations. And lastly, each business
planisrequired to have a set of clearly defined performance targets with an individualized tracking
scorecard that is used to track the business plan performance over the duration of the plan. It is theintent of
the Health System to have semi-annual and annual reviews conducted to evaluate the progress of the
business plan in terms of its meeting pre-set performance goals now that formalized business plans have
been established.

Recommendation

We recommend the Health System ensure that the planned review process be completed for all existing
business plans to provide timely assessment of the University’ s return on investment.



Management Response

The Health System intends to follow the plan as described in the observation section. We are currently in
the final stages of completing the first cycle of business plan scorecard reviews.

SYSTEM OBSERVATIONS
AS/400 — Security Logging/Monitoring and Access Reviews

Observation

As part of our controls testing for information security in the current year, it was noted that thereis not a
formal review process in place for security violations/incidents/changes in the AS/400 environment. In
addition, it was noted that there is not a periodic review of users' access.

An effective security tool provides administrators with the ability to take periodic snapshots of the system,
identify security configuration options and changes, and assist in resolving security weaknesses. The
system has the ability to log security related events such as unauthorized access attempts and the use of
sensitive resources. Reports are routingly generated and timely reviewed by both security management and
system owners. Unauthorized users may access and modify data without detection if violations are not
researched in atimely manner. Audit reports provide a means of a detective control to data security.
However, as a detective control, reports are only useful when they contain reliable information and are
reviewed in atimely and proactive manner.

Reviews should ordinarily occur on a continuous basis, to ensure that controls and rules are consistently
applied, and to provide a secure environment on a day-to-day basis. Senior personnd should monitor access
privileges to software libraries, utilities and sensitive functions, data, and applications, based on access
rules agreed upon by application owners, and then report back on their acceptability. Unacceptable access
rights should ordinarily be revoked after consultation with the relevant application owner. Without effective
reviews, there will be no assurance that user access privileges remain appropriate, or that logical security is
effective. Additionally, potential threats and misuse may not be detected on atimely basis.

Recommendation

We recommend that management consider implementing procedures for the periodic review of security
violations, incidents and/or changes. In addition, management should consider implementing a process to
periodically review security access rights to ensure that users' access remain commensurate with their job
responsibilities.



Management Response

We agree with this recommendation. The system’s team will begin working with the security team to work
on incident and violation reporting mechanisms on the AS/400. Our initial goal is to have a methodology
implemented by February, 2006.

Physical Security Weaknesses

Observation

As part of our controls testing for information security in the current year, it was noted that a procedure
has not been defined for requesting, granting, or reviewing physical security access to the data center at 650
Ackerman Road.

Physical access control is one form of physical security. It provides the ability for management to grant
physical access to sensitive areas to sdlected individuals at predefined times. The computer hardware
represents a substantial financial investment and the information contained on the storage devicesis
important to the continued operations of the entity. The equipment should be protected against inadvertent
or malicious damage. The information should be protected against misuse. Servers, on-site tapes, and
communication equipment should be kept in a secured area that is not visible to non-employees. Safeguards
should extend beyond the computer facility to include the entire entity. These safeguards may cover remote
locations and rented, leased, or shared facilities. Only authorized personnd should be allowed access to the
equipment. Typically, access is controlled through a formal request and approval process.

Reviews should ordinarily occur on a continuous basis, to ensure that controls and rules are consistently
applied, and to provide a secure environment on a day-to-day basis. Senior personnd should monitor
physical access. Unacceptable access rights should ordinarily be revoked timely. Without effective reviews,
there will be no assurance that physical security access privileges remain appropriate, or that physical
security is effective. Additionally, potential threats and misuse may not be detected on atimely basis.

Recommendation

We recommend that management consider implementing procedures for requesting and approving physical
security access to the data center. In addition, management should consider implementing a process to
periodically review security access rights to ensure that the users’ physical access is appropriate, based on
job responsibilities.

Management Response

We agree with this recommendation. In October 2005, we implemented a formal policy for who should
have access to the data center. We are also implemented a more formal method for requesting access,
reviewing access, and terminating access from the data center.

AS/400 Security Weaknesses (Prior Year Comment)

Observation

In the current year, Sekchek, an automated logical security analysistool, was utilized to analyze the

security architecture for the production environment. The analysis performed was specific to the AS/400.
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The analysis covered a broad spectrum of security areas, which included system values/account policies,
user groups/classes, special authorities/privileged attributes, password parameters, system IDs, world
writeable files/directories, etc. Asaresult of this analysis, a number of issues were identified. The specific
exceptions that remained outstanding at the end of the current period in review are provided in within
management’ s response below. The analysis reports were discussed in detail with our key contacts.
Additionally, copies of the reports were provided to these contacts to be used as a basdine to address the
issues identified.

These exceptions increase the risk of both unauthorized and inappropriate changes to, or disclosure of,
company information.

Recommendation

We recommend that management consider reviewing the security settings in place for the AS/400
processing environment and make appropriate modifications to further strengthen the internal control
structure.

M anagement Response

We agreein part with some of the recommendations.
Theindividual items listed below have been reviewed and a response was previously created for each.

e Excluding disabled accounts, 10% (69) have not had their password changed in the last 90 days on
MATMGMTL. In addition, excluding disabled accounts, 8% (54) have not been used in the past
90 days.

o Some of these are training accounts and support accounts that do not change. The majority
are user accounts that need to be addressed. The systems team will be working with data
security to create a procedure for monitoring and cleaning computer accounts on the
AS/400. Data security currently has a policy for computer account usage and will
implement that on the AS/400.

o Theimplementation goal for cleaning up user accounts is February, 2006.
e Excluding disabled accounts, 8% (55) of the profiles have unlimited capability on MATMGMT1.

o Sincetheinitial run of SekChek, this number has been reduced to 44. In addition,
approximately 10 more users will be removed or disabled in six to eight months when the
last remnants of the materials management application are taken out of production use.
Theremainder of those users that have this capability do so for legitimate reasons, such as
ability for the help desk to perform password resets, for systems support personnd to
perform system support functions, and select power users to run command-line queries
outside their applications.

e Thelisting of programs that unnecessarily adopt the authority of powerful profiles on the
MATMGMT1 system appears excessive. AS/400' s adopted authority feature allows users to be
given temporary (indirect) authority to objects, while under the control of a program with restricted



functionality, rather than having permanent and direct access to the objects concerned.

o Wehavereviewed many times the programs that utilize the adopted authority function.
While we recognize that this creates some potential exposure, we consider it far less that
the exposure that would be created by granting the users of these applications permanent
and direct access to the objects concerned, e.g. giving all users all object authority. Given
that the applications we run are the intellectual property of their respective vendors, i.e. we
are unable to make modifications at the level that would be required to fully address issues
of when and how adoptive authority is use, we effectively trust that the mechanisms put in
place by the application vendors enforce appropriate controls, in lieu of maintaining this
control at the operating system level.

o Wedo not plan to make any changes regarding this item.

e Thelisting of authorities on the MATMGMT 1 system for the listed authorities for STRDFU,
especially those for *PUBLIC access, appears excessive. Inappropriately defined authorities give
Users unnecessary access to programs and data, which can seriously undermine security of your
system and information resources. Both public and private authorities should be checked for
accuracy and modified as appropriate.

o Historically, we have relied upon restriction of command-line access, as described
previoudly, to limit access not only to the STRDFU function but to the various other
powerful functions that are available via the command line. As also noted above, we have
worked to reduce the number of users with unlimited capability. Additionally, we plan to
start using authorization lists to have more granular control over what those with
command line access can execute.

o Weanticipate putting the first round of these new controls in place by March, 2006.

Contingency Plan Testing

Observation

As noted in prior year reviews, customer contingency plans are tested and reviewed periodically as part of
actual system outages and/or operational failures. Contingency plans are written documentation that
customers use when computer systems are down. Any issues that arise are addressed and the customers’
plans are updated. Each activation, “tests’ the contingency plan for completeness, rdiability, and
effectiveness.

However, the Health System does not formally test these contingency plans, its disaster recovery or
business contingency plans (which are documented and in place) on aregular basis. The Health System
performed a successful DR test of its NDS tree and e-mail platform in October 2004.

The contingency plan must be periodically reviewed, maintained and tested to ensureits continued viability
and ensure that personnel are sufficiently trained to carry out the procedures necessary to restore functions
and services, which are critical to business operations.

Recommendation



We continue to recommend that management consider testing the existing contingency plans and disaster
recovery and business continuity plans annually, or at least critical functions of these plans on a rotational
basis.

Management Response
We agree with the recommendations and are in the process for planning Disaster Recovery Testing for

fiscal year 2006. We plan to restore at |least two of our business critical systems this fiscal year as well as
testing multiple disaster processes (declaring disaster, canceling disaster, requesting tapes, etc.).
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Dr. Karen Holbrook, President
The Ohio State University:

We have performed the procedures below, which were agreed to by the administration of The Ohio State
University (the “University”), with respect to the accounting records of the University as of June 30,
2005, solely to assist you in evaluating whether the accompanying statement of revenues and
expenditures (“statement”) is in compliance with the National Collegiate Athletic Association’s

(the “NCAA”) Bylaw 6.2.3.1 for the year ended June 30, 2005. The Ohio State University’s management
is responsible for the statement and the statement’s compliance with those requirements. This
agreed-upon procedures engagement was conducted in accordance with attestation standards established
by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The sufficiency of the procedures is solely the
responsibility of those parties specified in this report. Consequently, we make no representation regarding
the sufficiency of the procedures described below either for the purpose for which this report has been
requested or for any other purpose.

Agreed-Upon Procedures Related to the Statement of Revenues and Expenditures
The procedures that we performed are as follows:

We obtained the statement, as prepared by the administration of the University, which is included as
Exhibit A. We agreed the statement to the University’s general ledger on a test basis. For all revenue and
expense categories, we performed the following:

o We compared and agreed, on a test basis, each operating revenue and expense category reported
in the statement during the reporting period to supporting schedules provided by the
administration of the University

o We compared and agreed a sample of operating revenue receipts and expenses obtained from the
operating revenues and expenses supporting schedules to supporting documentation provided by
the administration of the University

e We compared each major revenue and expense account to prior period amounts and budget
estimates provided by the administration of the University. We obtained and documented an
understanding of any significant variations on a test basis.

Member of
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu



Operating Revenues

Ticket Sales—We compared, on a test basis, tickets sold during the reporting period, complimentary
tickets provided during the reporting period, and unsold tickets to the related revenues reported by the
University in the statement and the related attendance figures. We recalculated totals.

Away Game Sales and Guarantees—We selected a sample of settlement reports for away games during
the reporting period and agreed each selection to the University’s general ledger and/or the statement. We
selected a sample of contractual agreements pertaining to revenues derived from guaranteed contests
during the reporting period and compared and agreed each selection to the University’s general ledger
and/or the statement. We recalculated totals.

Contributions—On a test basis, we obtained and reviewed supporting documentation for contributions of
moneys, goods, or services received directly by the intercollegiate athletics program from any affiliated or
outside organization, agency, or group of individuals not included (e.g., contributions by corporate
sponsors) that constituted 10% or more of all contributions received for intercollegiate athletics during the
reporting periods.

Third-Party Support—We obtained a summary of cash balances for affiliated and outside organizations,
selected a sample of funds, and compared and agreed each selection to supporting documentation, the
University’s general ledger, and/or the summary.

Indirect Facilities and Administrative Support—We compared the indirect institutional support recorded
by the University during the reporting period with institutional authorizations and/or other corroborative
supporting documentation on a test basis. We recalculated totals.

NCAA/Conference Distributions Including All Tournaments—We obtained and inspected agreements
related to the University’s NCAA and conference distributions received during the reporting period to
gain an understanding of the relevant terms and conditions on a test basis. We compared and agreed the
related revenues to the University’s general ledger and/or the statement on a test basis. We recalculated
totals.

Broadcast, Television, Radio, and Internet Rights—We obtained and inspected agreements related to the
institution’s participation in revenues from broadcast, television, radio, and Internet rights to gain an
understanding of the relevant terms and conditions. We compared and agreed related revenues to the
institution’s general ledger and/or the statement. We recalculated totals.

Program Sales, Concessions, Novelty Sales, and Parking—We compared and agreed concession revenue
reported in the statement during the reporting period to supporting schedules provided by the institution.
We compared and agreed related revenues to the institution’s general ledger and/or the statement. We
recalculated totals.

Royalties, Advertisements, and Sponsorships—We obtained and inspected on a test basis agreements
related to the University’s revenues from royalties, advertisements, and sponsorships during the reporting
period to gain an understanding of the relevant terms and conditions. We compared and agreed the related
revenues to the University’s general ledger and/or the statement on a test basis. We recalculated totals.

Sports-Camp Revenues—We inspected sports-camp contracts between the institution and persons
conducting institutional sports-camps or clinics during the reporting period to obtain an understanding of
the institution’s methodology for recording revenues from sports-camps. We obtained schedules of camp
participants. We selected a sample of individual camp participant cash receipts from the schedule of
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sports-camp participants and agreed each selection to the institution’s general ledger and/or the statement.
We recalculated totals.

Endowment and Investment Income—We obtained and inspected endowment agreements to gain an
understanding of the relevant terms and conditions. We compared and agreed the classification and use of
endowment and investment income reported in the statement during the reporting period to the uses of
income defined within the related endowment agreement. We recalculated totals.

Operating Expenses

Athletic Student Aid—We selected a sample of students from the listing of institutional student aid
recipients during the reporting period. We obtained individual student account detail for each selection
and compared total aid allocated from the related aid award letter to the student’s account. We
recalculated totals.

Guarantees—We obtained and inspected contractual agreements pertaining to expenses recorded by the
institution from guaranteed contests during the reporting period on a test basis. We compared and agreed
related amounts expensed by the institution to the institution’s general ledger and/or the statement on a
test basis. We recalculated totals.

Coaching Salaries, Benefits, and Bonuses Paid by the University and Related Entities—We obtained and
inspected a listing of coaches employed by the institution and related entities during the reporting period.
We selected a sample of coaches’ contracts that included football, and men’s and women’s basketball
from this listing. We compared and agreed the financial terms and conditions of each selection to the
related coaching salaries, benefits, and bonuses recorded by the institution and related entities in the
statement during the reporting period on a test basis. We obtained and inspected W-2’s or 1099’s for each
selection. We compared and agreed related W-2’s or 1099’s to the related coaching salaries, benefits, and
bonuses paid by the University and related entities expense recorded by the University in the statement
during the reporting period on a test basis. We recalculated totals.

Support Staff/Administrative Salaries, Benefits, and Bonuses Paid by the University and Related
Entities—We selected a sample of support staff/administrative personnel employed by the University and
related entities during the reporting period. We obtained and inspected W-2’s or 1099’s for each
selection. We compared and agreed related W-2’s or 1099’s to the related support staff/administrative
salaries, benefits, and bonuses paid by the University and related entities expense recorded by the
University in the statement during the reporting period on a test basis. We recalculated totals.

Recruiting and Team Travel—We obtained and documented an understanding of the University’s
recruiting and team travel expense policies. We compared and agreed to the existing institutional and
NCAA related policies.

Indirect Facilities and Administrative Support—We obtained and documented an understanding of the
institution’s methodology for allocating indirect facilities support. We compared and agreed Indirect
Facilities and Administrative Support reported by the institution in the statement to the corresponding
revenue category reported by the institution in the statement. We recalculated totals.



Capitalized Assets

o We obtained a schedule of total intercollegiate athletics capitalized assets, additions, and
improvements of facilities, and agreed on a test basis to the University’s general ledger.

e We obtained an understanding of the University’s policies and procedures for acquiring,
approving, depreciating, and disposing of intercollegiate athletics related assets.

e On atest basis, we obtained and reviewed supporting documentation for significant capitalized
additions that constituted 10% or more of all capitalized additions made by intercollegiate
athletics during the reporting period.

Booster Organizations

e We obtained from the management of The Ohio State University a list of outside organizations
and their related financial activities for the year ended June 30, 2005, as they relate to the
Intercollegiate Athletics Programs of the University. We agreed total revenues and expenses, or
total cash receipts and disbursements, of all booster organizations, of all booster organizations for
the year ended June 30, 2005, with amounts obtained from the official responsible for each
respective booster organization.

Agreed-Upon Procedures Related to the Internal Control Over Compliance

We have performed the procedures below, which were agreed to by the University, solely to assist in
evaluating management’s assertion about the effectiveness of the University’s internal control over
compliance. This agreed-upon procedures engagement was performed in accordance with standards
established by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The sufficiency of these
procedures is solely the responsibility of the specified users of the report. Consequently, we make no
representation regarding the sufficiency of the procedures described below either for the purpose for
which this report has been requested or for any other purpose.

Because of inherent limitations in any internal control structure, errors or irregularities may occur and not
be detected. Also, projections by the specified users of their evaluation of the internal control structure
over financial reporting to future periods are subject to risk that the internal control structure may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or
procedures may deteriorate.

Our procedures and results are as follows:

o Certain inquiries were made of the Controller’s Office and Intercollegiate Athletic Department
personnel relating to the procedures and internal accounting controls unique to the Intercollegiate
Athletic Department, specifically, departmental organization, control consciousness of staff, use
of internal auditors in the department, competency of personnel, adequate safeguarding and
control of records and assets, and controls over interaction with the information technology
department.



We were not engaged to perform an audit, the objective of which would be the expression of an opinion,
on the financial statements of the Intercollegiate Athletic Department of the University. Accordingly, we
do not express such an opinion. Had we been engaged to perform additional procedures, other matters
might have come to our attention that would have been reported to you. Nor, were we engaged to perform
an examination, the objective of which would be the expression of an opinion on management’s assertion
about the effectiveness of the internal control structure over financial reporting. Accordingly, we do not
express such an opinion. Had we been engaged to perform additional procedures, other matters might
have come to our attention that would have been reported to you.

This report is intended solely for the use of members of the audit committee, board of regents,
administration of the University, or an authorized representative of the NCAA, and is not intended to be,
and should not be, used by anyone other than these specified parties.

Detoata_ t Towd Lep

January 25, 2006



THE OHIO STATE UNIVERSITY INTERCOLLEGIATE ATHLETIC DEPARTMENT

STATEMENT OF REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2005 (UNAUDITED)

EXHIBIT A

OPERATING
REVENUES:
Ticket sales
Postseason event
Program sales
Novelty sales
Radio and T.V. rights
Concessions
Gifts:
Restricted
Grant-in-aid
Parking
Investment income—
Unrestricted
Endowment income—
Restricted
Postage\Service charges
Advertising
Entry fees
Facility rentals
Miscellaneous
Golf course
Ice rink

Total operating
revenues

OPERATING
EXPENDITURES:
Coaches’ salaries
Other salaries
Travel—

Team and other
Recruiting
Guarantees—net
Financial aid
Maintenance\General
Equipment purchases
Advertising
Insurance
Telephone
Food
Lodging
Indirect overhead
Physical facilities

Total operating
expenditures

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY)

OF REVENUES OVER
EXPENDITURES

Men’s Men’s Women'’s Other Sports Other Sports Non-Program

Football Basketball Basketball Men Women Specific Total
$25,361,685 $ 3,450,796 $ 273,885 $ 700,251 $ 63,773 $ 209,287 $30,059,677
3,403,165 2,234,459 5,637,624
289,942 26,407 12,026 264 47,784 376,423
2,128,335 2,128,335
3,831,281 3,866,109 (7,500) (4,500) 7,685,390
1,472,724 335,122 118,949 269,937 27,826 297,632 2,522,190
95,099 24,331 417 118,441 16,453 1,145,929 1,400,670
1,941,691 337,435 410,097 3,008,764 4,844,533 10,542,520
1,018,696 79,232 33,957 1,131,885
382,199 382,199
695,312 83,309 8,102 20,949 135 107,614 915,421
3,206,438 3,206,438
2,814,138 2,814,138
280,548 280,548
433 357,896 186,497 150,333 6,884 909,920 1,611,963
3,133,753 3,133,753
211,768 211,768
38,110,028 10,795,096 1,036,430 4,264,175 4,959,868 14,875,345 74,040,942
2,482,062 1,056,097 713,212 2,150,225 2,364,121 8,765,717
513,421 241,631 194,366 391,417 227,600 17,916,047 19,484,482
1,277,681 484,731 271,268 875,500 925,574 566,054 4,400,808
419,160 129,964 50,616 161,437 218,447 7,111 986,735
1,309,684 (108,710) 26,803 43,490 16,053 3,782 1,291,102
1,941,691 337,435 410,097 3,008,764 4,844,533 10,542,520
1,678,131 288,794 172,323 469,713 398,907 15,498,603 18,506,471
131,439 11,742 893 8,886 39,279 402,477 594,716
194,393 194,393
102,472 102,472
46,664 29,715 20,580 45,642 33,301 318,747 494,649
551,193 11,706 22,281 42,936 78,782 728,810 1,435,708
314,620 2,941 6,873 15,544 61,849 401,827
3,538,718 3,538,718
347,316 347,316
10,665,746 2,486,046 1,882,439 7,204,883 9,162,141 39,686,379 71,087,634
$27,444,282 $ 8,309,050 $ (846,009) $(2,940,708) $(4,202,273)  $(24,811,034) $ 2,953,308

Note: This schedule was prepared by a representative of the Department of Athletics.




THE OHIO STATE UNIVERSITY
INTERCOLLEGIATE ATHLETIC DEPARTMENT

NOTES TO STATEMENT OF REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2005

1. SUMMARY OF PRESENTATION POLICIES

The amounts in the accompanying statement of revenues and expenditures were obtained from The Ohio
State University’s (the “University”) trial balance, which is maintained on an accrual basis. All revenues
and expenditures directly related to various sports were disclosed. All remaining revenues and
expenditures are non-program-specific. The University records depreciation on physical plant and
equipment; however, depreciation is not part of the statement of revenues and expenditures.

2. OTHER SPORTS

Other sports include baseball, cross country, fencing, field hockey, pistol, rifle, softball, synchronized
swimming, wrestling, men’s and women’s track and field, men’s and women’s golf, men’s and women’s
gymnastics, men’s and women’s ice hockey, men’s and women’s lacrosse, women’s rowing, men’s and
women’s soccer, men’s and women’s swimming and diving, men’s and women’s tennis, and men’s and
women’s volleyball.

3. GIFTS

Gift revenue included in the statement of revenues and expenditures represent gifts given to the
Intercollegiate Athletic Department that did not contain any donor-imposed restrictions, or gifts for
which donor-imposed restrictions were met during the current fiscal year.

Individual contributions in excess of 10% of all contributions received for the Intercollegiate Athletic
Department for the year ended June 30, 2005, are as follows:

Net Asset Contributor Amount Class

Mr. Albert J. Phipps $4,858,873 Restricted
4., OTHER FORMS OF COMPENSATION

The value of volunteer assistant coaching services, according to NCAA financial audit guidelines,
should be reported as contributions and as salary expenditures. The University estimates that the value
of volunteer assistant coaching services is not material to the statement of revenues and expenditures
and, therefore, is not reflected.



PROPERTY, PLANT, AND EQUIPMENT

Intercollegiate athletics-related assets are accounted for consistent with the University’s policies for
property, plant, and equipment. Property, plant, and equipment valued at $5,000 or more are recorded at
cost at date of acquisition or, if acquired by gift, at estimated fair value at date of gift. Additions to plant
assets are capitalized, while maintenance and minor renovations are charged to operations. Property,
plant, and equipment assets are reflected net of accumulated depreciation calculated on a straight-line
basis over the estimated useful lives ranging from 3 to 100 years.

Balance Transfers Balance
June 30, 2004 Additions In (Out) Disposals  June 30, 2005
Capital assets not being depreciated—
Construction in progress $ 939,754 $ 2,023,837 $(1,744170) $ - $ 1219421
Total capital assets not being depreciated 939,754 2,023,837 (1,744,170) - 1,219,421
Capital assets being depreciated:
Buildings 259,863,794 27,579,472 287,443,266
Capital improvements 17,470,596 547,299 18,017,895
Machinery and equipment 8,176,205 318,274 (78,294) 8,416,185
Total capital assets being depreciated 285,510,595 28,445,045 - (78,294) 313,877,346
Total capital assets 286,450,349 30,468,882 (1,744,170) (78,294) 315,096,767
Less accumulated depreciation:
Buildings 47,433,879 7,916,458 55,350,337
Capital improvements 6,341,104 742,683 7,083,787
Machinery and equipment 4,908,649 676,330 (78,294) 5,506,685
Total accumulated depreciation 58,683,632 9,335,471 - (78,294) 67,940,809
Total capital assets being depreciated—net 226,826,963 19,109,574 - - 245,936,537
Capital assets—net $ 227,766,717 $21,133,411 $(1,744,170) $ - $ 247,155,958

S
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CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS Columbus, Ohio 43215

INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS’ REPORT ON
APPLYING AGREED-UPON PROCEDURES

To the Board of Trustees of
The Ohio State University
Columbus, Ohio

We have performed the procedures enumerated below, which were agreed to by The Ohio State University
and the Alcohol, Drug and Mental Health Board of Franklin County (ADAMH) solely to assist in
evaluating whether compliance requirements required by the ADAMH were adhered to by the Traumatic
Brain Injury Network (TBI Network) of The Ohio State University (Service Provider) during the year
ended June 30, 2005. This agreed-upon procedures engagement was conducted in accordance with
attestation standards established by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The
sufficiency of these procedures is solely the responsibility of the those parties specified in this report.
Consequently, we make no representation regarding the sufficiency of the procedures described below
either for the purpose for which this report has been requested or for any other purpose.

The procedures we performed and our findings are as follows:
1.  Agency Revenue Report (FIS-052)
a.  We documented the procedures used to process revenue and evaluated their adequacy. Service
Provider revenue processing procedures performed appear adequate and no recommendations

were noted.

b. We performed substantive audit procedures to test the accuracy and completeness of the FIS-
052 report. We have included the Agency Revenue Report FIS-052 as Exhibit D to this report.

2. Medicaid Contract and Quality Assurance Program
a. We obtained from the Service Provider’s management the following:
Ohio Department of Human Services (ODHS) and the Ohio Department of Alcohol and
Drug Addiction Services Medicaid Contracts

ODADAS/ADAMH Community Medicaid Contract
ADAMH/Facility Community Medicaid Contract and Exhibits



We read the certifications by ODADAS which included accreditation of the Service Provider’s
quality assurance program, noting that the certifications were current for the time services were
rendered during the Service Provider’s Fiscal Year ended June 30, 2005.

We reviewed the Service Provider’s ongoing quality assurances program noting that it appears
they were following program requirements. No recommendations were noted.

Block Grant Budget procedures were not applicable.

Medicaid and/or Non-medicaid Billings:

a.

We documented procedures used for Medicaid and Non-Medicaid billings to ADAMH and
evaluated the adequacy of the procedures performed. No findings were noted.

We tested 60 billings to verify that the Service Provider is following ADAMH’s procedures for
member financial eligibility, sliding fee scale, outpatient co-insurance, and residential co-pay
as outlined in the Provider Services Contract.

We tested 60 billings to verify that revenues from sources other than ADAMH are being billed
prior to billing ADAMH for Non-Medicaid eligible services.

We obtained the Service Provider’s billing reports for the months from July 1, 2004 through
June 30, 2005.

We obtained a list from the Service Provider which shows all employees and credentials they
hold.

We obtained the MACSIS reports (i.e., Remittance Advice) that represent the services billed for
the months from July 1, 2004 through June 30, 2005.

We selected 60 Medicaid billings (roster lines) from the Remittance Advice reports for the State
fiscal year ended June 30, 2005.

We traced the 60 roster lines noted in step 4g. to the Service Provider’s billing reports.

For those 60 Medicaid billings, we agreed the date of service, duration, service type, provider’s
name and provider’s discipline from the billing records to corresponding information recorded
in the progress notes in the client’s individual record and noted that they were in agreement.

We agreed the service delivered to the service intervention plan described as the individual
service plan (ISP) and noted that they were in agreement for the 60 selections we made. We
determined that each validated ISP was:

Signed by a person with proper credentials to supervise treatment.
Prepared and updated in a timely manner.
Prepared within the prescribed dates of the certification standards.



For the 60 selections, we examined documentation verifying that third-party payers were billed
prior to billing Medicaid, when applicable.

We obtained and reviewed Service Provider’s personnel files for selected service episodes.

For the 60 selections, we verified that providers were eligible to provide alcohol and other drug
services according to ODADAS standards.

For the 60 selections, we compared the service descriptions used by the Service Provider with
the service descriptions as defined in the Ohio Department of Mental Health’s Administrative
Code Section 5122-29 for Community Mental Health Agencies and/or Ohio Administrative
Code Rule 3793:2-1-08 through 3793:2-1-17 for Alcohol and Drug Addiction Treatment
Programs, and determined that services were allowable.

We noted the following exceptions as a result of performing procedures a - n as described
above:

One instance where the incorrect amount was billed, resulting in an billing too low by $1.57.
This was due to the patient’s dependency information was entered into the system incorrectly.

One instance where an ISP was not updated/reviewed within 90 days.

Agency Expense Report (FIS-047)

a.

C.

d.

We obtained the Expense Budget Overview - Actual report on units delivered and costs incurred
for the State Fiscal Year ended June 30, 2005. We have included the FIS-047 Actual Expense
Budget Overview Report as Exhibit C to this report.

We performed the following procedures:
We agreed total expenses to expenditure summaries.

We reviewed the contract and inquired of service provider personnel whether the service
descriptions and definitions of units specified in Ohio Department of Mental Health’s
Administrative Code Section 5122-29 for Community Mental Health Agencies and/or Ohio
Administrative Code Rule 3793:2-1-08 through 3793:2-1-17 for Alcohol and Drug
Addiction Treatment Programs were consistently used.

We made inquiries regarding the Service Provider’s calculations of allocations of non-
personnel and overhead costs to the total service costs.

We inquired of service provider personnel to determine whether allocations were calculated
consistent with the calculation method used for budgeting and reflect what actually

incurred.

We reviewed the reports to determine if they were filed with ADAMH within 60 days of the
service provider’s fiscal year end.

We reviewed costs claimed on the FIS-047 for any unallowable costs.



e. We reviewed the allocation of the administrative overhead and non-personnel expenses to the
various services to determine if applied consistently.

No exceptions to items a - e were noted.
6. Inventory-Purchased procedures were not applicable.

Per the Memorandum of Understanding, we have provided the following documents as of June 30, 2005,
as exhibits to this report (the exhibits follow this report):

A) Key Performance Indicators as of June 30, 2005 - Exhibit A

B) Schedule of Functional Expenses for the Year Ended June 30, 2005 - Exhibit B
C) FIS-047 Report of Expenses - Exhibit C

D) FIS-052 Agency Revenue - Exhibit D

We were not engaged to and did not conduct an examination, the objectives of which would be the
expression of an opinion on whether the TBI Network complied with ADAMH specified requirements or
whether the accompanying exhibits are presented fairly in all material respects in relation to the basic
financial statements of the TBI Network taken as a whole. Accordingly, we do not express such an
opinion. Had we performed additional procedures, other matters might have come to our attention that
would have been reported to you.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the specified parties listed above and is not
intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than those specified parties.

@rrﬂé £ (%/,,Pq,\% e

December 13, 2005



THE OHIO STATE UNIVERSITY
TRAUMATIC BRAIN INJURY NETWORK

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Calculation

1. Current Ratio

Current Assets
Current Liabilities

2. Debt to Equity Ratio

Total Liabilities
Total Fund Balance

3. Administrative Costs to Expenses

Total Administrative Cost
Total Expenses

4. Revenue to Expenses

Total Revenues
Total Expenses

5. Net Asset Reserve

Total Net Assets
Total Expenses/12

6. Percentage of Funding - ADAMH

Total Revenue From ADAMH
Total Revenue

EXHIBIT A

(Unaudited)
As of June 30, 2005

2005 2004
Amount Ratio/% Ratio/%
1,365 N/A N/A
0
1,365 N/A N/A
0
56,443 10.8% 9.5%
521,668
481,534 0.92 0.95
521,668
0 N/A N/A
43,472
256,551 53% 54%
481,668



Salary
Benefits

Facil

ity

General Operating

Adm

Tota

Supplies

Professional Services
Contract Services
Travel & Auto
Printing/Copying
Postage

Equipment & Building Repair
CARF Fees
Conference/Training
Miscellaneous
Subtotal

inistration

OHIO STATE UNIVERSITY
TRAUMATIC BRAIN INJURY NETWORK

EXHIBIT B
Schedule of Funtional Expenses
(Unaudited)
For the Y ear Ended June 30, 2005
Group Individual Case Crisis
Counseling Counseling Management Assessment Intervention Other Subtotal Admin Total
53,647 48,339 159,138 27,158 353 - 288,635 42,262 $ 330,897
- - - - - 27,021 27,021 - 27,021
19,404 18,753 66,268 11,098 134 9,019 124,676 12,517 137,193
182 177 624 105 1 83 1,172 126 1,298
621 601 2,123 356 4 - 3,705 - 3,705
1,658 1,602 5,661 948 12 - 9,881 1,069 10,950
- 1,260 4,450 - 9 - 5,719 - 5,719
63 61 214 36 1 27 402 40 442
95 92 324 54 1 41 607 61 668
232 225 794 133 2 - 1,386 150 1,536
162 157 554 93 1 - 967 105 1,072
120 116 408 68 1 - 713 77 790
57 54 195 33 2 - 341 36 377
3,190 4,345 15,347 1,826 34 151 24,893 1,664 26,557
8,817 8,436 30,031 5,003 61 4,095 56,443 (56,443) 0
85,058 79,873 270,784 45,085 582 40,286 521,668 0 g 521,668




Uniform Cost Report (UCR)
ODADAS-FIS-047

Agency Name : TBI Network
Agency Address: 106 McCampbell Hall
1581 Dodd Drive

Budget

MACSIS UPI

Actual

Agency Telephone Number:

X Reporting Period - From:
To: _6/30/2005

6707

7/1/2004

614-292-4559

EXHIBIT C

Columbus, OH Owner Federal Tax I.D. Number: 316025986
1. 2. 3. Number of FTE Assigned 4. Personnel Costs 5. 6. 7. 8. 9. 10. 11. 12.
Number Direct Support Direct Support Service Non- Service Allocation of Total Cost Unallowable Total Allowable
Service Taxonomy of Units Service Service Service Service Personnel Total Administrative Costs Per Costs Allowable Cost
and MACSIS Procedure Codes (a) (b) (a) (b) Costs Costs Overhead Unit Costs Per Unit

[Acute Hospital Di - HO009

[Ambulatory Detoxification - HO014

[Assessment - HO001 277.0] 0.266 0.327] $11,965.89 $15,290.68| $12,825.48] $40,082.05] $5,002.47| $45,084.52) $162.76| $45,084.52] $162.76|
Case Management - HO006 2,503.0} 2.407] 1.155] $107,713.55| $51,587.47| $81,452.44] $240,753.46| $30,031.04] $270,784.49] $108.18] $270,784.49) $108.18]
Crisis Intervention - HO007 4.0 0.004] 0.003] $145.30] $210.87] $164.93] $521.10] $60.81f $581.91] $145.48) $581.91 $145.48)
Family Counseling - T1006

Group Counseling - HO005 7,105] 0.488 0.558 $21,318.62] $32,316.89) $22,605.68| $76,241.19) $8,817.16) $85,058.35) $11.97, $85,058.35) $11.97)
Individual C - HO004 2,414 0.580] 0.420] $26,386.78| $22,169.11 $22,881.01 $71,436.90) $8,436.09 $79,873.00) $33.09 $79,873.00) $33.09

Intensive Outpatient - HO015

Laboratory Urinalysis - HO003

Medical Somatic - H0016

Methadone Administration - H0020

Sub Acute Detoxification - HO012

23 Hour Observation Bed - 99236

Urine Dip Screen - AO780

dical Cc ity Resid | Treatment - Hospital Setting - A1210

dical Cc ity Ri Treatment - Non-Hospital Setting - A0230

Non-Medical Community Residential Treatment - A1220

BH Medical Community Residential Treatment - Hospital Setting - HO017

BH Medical Community Residential Treatment - Non-Hospital Setting - H0018

BH Non-Medical Community Residential Treatment - HO019

Consultation - AO560

Hotline - HO030

Intervention - H0022

Outreach - HO023

Referral and Information - A0510

Training - HOO21

Alternatives - AO660

Community-Based Process - A0630

Education - A0620

Environmental - A0640

Information Di 1 - A0610

Problem Identification and Referral - AO650

Child Care - T1009

Meals - T1010

Room and Board - A0740

Transportation - AO750

[AOD Services Not Otherwise Classified - H0047

Non-Residential DIP

Residential DIP - 48 Hour

R ial DIP - 72 Hour

Administrative Overhead

Mental Health Services

Title IV-E Services

Non AOD/MH/Title IV-E Services

[TOTALS FOR AOD SERVICES

2.463]

$167,530.15]

$27,020.79]

$121,575.02]

$9,170.09)

$139,929.54]

$36,190.88 $4,095.03]

$429,034.70) $52,347.56 $0.00

$40,285.914

$481,382.27|

[TOTALS FOR AGENCY

3.745' 2.463]

$167,530.15]

$148,595.82]

$149,099.62]

$465,225.58| $56,442.60 $521,668.18] $0.00)

$521,668.18|

Name/Title:

| certify that this UCR and all supporting documentation have been completed in accordance with OAC 3793:2-1-09

Date:




ADAMH Form 9—AGENCY REVENUE (] ] Budget [x | Actual FCADAMH-FIS-052AS EXHIBIT D
Agency Name: TBI Network Executive DirectcJohn D. Corrigan, PhD Reporting Period OSU FY 2005
Agency UPI#:06707 From: 7/1/2005
Agency Phone #: 614-292-4559 To: 6/30/2005
HO001 HO006 HO007 HO005 HO0004
AD AD AD AD AD Research
1. Revenue Source Assessment Case Crisis Group Individual fundin g Total
Management Intervention Counseling Counseling
ADAMH (Non-Medicaid) Claims $10,496 $60,533 $104 $32,150 $20,515 $123,798
ADAMH Block Grants (Identify by program): $0
1) $0
(2) $0
(3) $0
(4 $0
(5) $0
(6) $0
() $0
$0
Other ADAMH Funds (Identify): $0
Incentive Funds $0
Other (1) Reconciliation
Other (2) $0
Total Franklin County ADAMH --
Allocation Contract Amoun $10,496 $60,533 $104 $32,150 $20,515 $123,798
Residents
Medicaid - MH $0
Medicaid-AOD $7,305 $69,611 $185 $25,900 $21,292 $124,292
Total Franklin County Medicaid $7,305 $69,611 $185 $25,900 $21,292 $124,292
Other Provider Funding $0
General Assistance $0
1st/3rd Party Fees $265 $265
Other External Revenue (identify): $0
out of county $55 $55
$0
BVR $1,206 $6,955 $12 $3,694 $2,357 $14,223
Moores grant $3,090 $17,823 $31 $9,466 $6,040 $36,450
WSU grant $8,011 $8,011
Teen grant $2,227 $2,227
Other Provider Funding (OSU) $10,829 $62,450 $107 $33,168 $21,165 $127,718
$36,035 $36,035
Out of County Medicaid $144 $5,972 $155 $1,666 $524 $8,461

Total Other Provider Fundini $15,616 $103,492 $304 $47,993 $30,350 $36,035 $233,444

GRAND TOTAL REVENUES $33,416 $233,636 $596 $106,043 $72,157 $481,534
TOTAL EXPENSES from UCR-047(s) $45,085 $270,784 $582 $85,058 $79,873 $521,668
Operating Profit/Loss $11,668 ($35,150) $14 $22,045 ($7,039) ($36,148)
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